# EDUCATIONAL LEADERSHIP AND INCLUSION: OPENING DOORS FOR DIVERSITY

by

Amanda Ballard B.A., Simon Fraser University, 2006

Lily Kamarn
B.A., University of British Columbia, 1997
B.Ed., University of British Columbia, 2004
Post-Baccalaureate Diploma, Simon Fraser University, 2009

Roxanne Pope B.A., Simon Fraser University, 2005 B. Ed., Simon Fraser University, 2006

# A GRADUATING PAPER SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF EDUCATION

In

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES

(Educational Administration and Leadership)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA
Vancouver
April 2020

© Amanda Ballard, Lily Kamarn and Roxanne Pope, 2020

#### **Abstract**

This study invited principals and vice principals who self-identify as members of underrepresented groups to share their perspectives on representation in educational leadership. The goal was to uncover supports which helped them in their pursuit of a leadership role and the barriers they faced. Using a questionnaire and follow-up interviews, a qualitative analysis was conducted focusing on the experiences of school-based administrators in the Evergreen School District in British Columbia. The respondents shared thoughts and feelings on discrimination, stereotypes, double standards, misrepresentation, and inequitable representation. They discussed why representation, role models, and mentorship mattered. They also shared how authenticity, resilience, a growth mindset, and relationship building contributed to their success in becoming a school-based administrator. The stories shared can inform and empower others who aspire to administrative leadership roles in education.

# Preface

This capstone paper is the original, unpublished, and independent work of equal authors Amanda Ballard, Lily Kamarn, and Roxanne Pope, completed under the supervision of Dr. Wendy Poole and Dr. Marilynne Waithman. The study described in this paper was granted approval by the UBC Behavioural Research Ethics Board under the certificate number H19-03328.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Preface	iii
Table of Contents.	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction	9
1.1 Background & Context	9
1.2 Purpose Statement	10
1.3 Research Questions	11
1.4 Positionality of Researchers	11
Chapter 2: Literature Review	14
2.1 Positive effects of representation in schools	14
2.2 The leadership pipeline	15
2.3 Leadership identity: Normalization of underrepresentation	20
2.4 Fostering leadership capacity: a social justice lens	22
2.5 Overcoming barriers	24
2.6 Summary	25
Chapter 3: Research Methods and Design	22
3.1 Research Setting	22
3.2 Participant Recruitment	23
3.3 Data Collection	24
3.4 Data Analysis	27
3.5 Ethical Considerations	29
3.6 Limitations	30

3.	7 Sharing the Findings
Chapter 4: Fi	ndings
4.	1 Profile of the Participants
4.2	2 Pathways to leadership
4.3	3 Importance of Representation
	4.3.1 Impact on Students
	4.3.2 Impact on Teachers
	4.3.3 Impact on Families
	4.3.4 Diversity in the Evergreen School District
	4.4 Supports for Greater Representation: Relationships
4.:	5 Barriers to Greater Representation
	4.5.1 Discrimination
	4.5.2 Misrepresentation
	4.5.3 Stereotypes and Double Standards
	4.5.4 Inequitable Representation
4.0	6 Suggestions for increasing representation
	4.6.1 Value diversity53
	4.6.2 Be equipped to support diverse leaders
	4.6.3 Mentorship and leadership development programs54
	4.6.4 Restorative justice
4.	7 Advice to aspiring leaders
4.8	8 Summary of key findings across the research questions
Chapter 5: Di	iscussion59

5.1 Introduction	59
5.2 Implications and Recommendations	59
5.3 Future Research	64
5.4 Conclusion	66
References	68
Appendix A: Questionnaire	76
Appendix B: Interview Questions	81

# Acknowledgements

We acknowledge and thank the Katzie, Kwantlen, Semiahmoo, Qayqayt, Kwikwetlem, and Coast Salish Peoples on whose shared unceeded, traditional territories we conducted our research.

This work would not have been possible without the support and guidance of Dr. Wendy Poole and Dr. Marilynne Waithman. Additionally, we are grateful to our participants who shared their knowledge, experience, and perspectives, and entrusted us with their stories. Most importantly, a special thanks to our friends and families for their encouragement, support, and understanding.

#### **Dedication**

Roxanne dedicates this work to her village of loving caregivers, including her parents, Jack and Joan, and her aunts and uncles. Their unwavering and ever-present belief in her potential will always be with her. This capstone could not have been completed without the continual support of her friends and colleagues. She is grateful to her devoted and loving husband Kristopher and her sons, Nolan and Reid, for their daily encouragement. This work is dedicated to them as well as her parents Marty and Susan, and brother Craig.

Lily dedicates this work to her husband Jonathan who always believed in her, and her daughters, Maiya and Zara, who show their love every day. She would also like to thank her parents, Tippy and Tina Mah, for modeling perseverance and life balance; her brother, Billy; sisters-in-law, Sarah and Saveen; and her mother and father-in-law, Jackie and Harminder for their unwavering support.

Amanda would like to dedicate this work to her loving parents.

#### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

#### 1.1 Background & Context

When students see their social and cultural identities reflected in their teachers, they are more empowered to celebrate their diversity, experience a sense of self-worth and become confident individuals which contribute to their own individual and collective well-being (BC Ministry of Education, 2019). Accordingly, the researchers believe teachers will also be empowered to pursue formal leadership positions when those leading and mentoring are a reflection of themselves. This is of particular importance for traditionally disenfranchised individuals who may perceive that existing power structures benefit those with social, cultural, and economic capital (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1977 as cited in Pajak & Green, 2003). A reflection of diversity within leadership removes the preconception that leadership within education is reserved for a particular group of individuals, most notably men, regardless of skill and experience (Fitzgerald, 2006; Koenig, Eagly, Mitchell & Ristikari, 2011; Lee, 2019; Lopez, 2017; Robinson, Shakeshaft, Grogan & Newcomb, 2017).

Research on efforts to promote members of underrepresented communities into leadership (Coleman & Campbell-Stevens, 2010; Davis, Gooden & Bowers, 2017; Lee, 2019) as well as examinations of the personal experiences of underrepresented educational leaders (Lopez, 2017; Williams, 2017) highlight a lack of mentors they can identify with. Ryan, Pollock & Antonelli's (2009) study of diversity among Canadian educators demonstrates the difficulties in gathering statistics relating to educators and diversity, but also documents a crucial shift in Canada's demographics:

Canada's population continues to become more racially diverse as current immigration

and Canadian birth patterns change the face of the population. Over the past four decades, the percentage of "visible minority" residents has increased dramatically (Statistics Canada, 2005b). As the diversity of the general population has increased, so has the student population, particularly in the metropolitan areas (Harvey & Houle, 2006). Although much is known about the composition of the general and student populations, less is known about Canada's educators...the racialized teacher population has not kept pace with the racialized student and general populations. In fact, it appears to be falling further and further behind (p. 593).

These same statistics and conclusions, while not specifically addressed in the literature, also apply to educational leaders. Most commonly, diversity with respect to leadership is referenced in terms of gender and the underrepresentation of women in leadership (Robinson et al., 2017). Diversity is also addressed in terms of leaders needing training in how to respond to diverse student populations and promote equity and social justice in schools (Bogotch, 2015; Gale, 2000; Ibrahim, 2015; Ryan, 2006, 2015; Shields, 2010). Very little research exists regarding the effects of diversity among those in positions of leadership (Lopez, 2003; Niesche, 2016). Nonetheless, studies have shown positive effects of having both teachers and leaders that are representative of their diverse student populations (Atkins, Fertig, & Wilkins, 2014; Dee, 2004; Egalite, Kisida, & Winters, 2015).

# 1.2 Purpose Statement

The purpose of this study is to examine the perspectives of vice-principals and principals who self-identify as members of visible or invisible underrepresented groups regarding opportunities and challenges faced when moving into their current leadership role. Highlighting and examining the experiences and successes of district administrators may encourage and

empower others who identify as underrepresented to move into leadership positions, specifically school-based administrative positions. An investigation of this nature offers an opportunity to educate and empower others with similar ambitions.

# 1.3 Research Questions

- 1. How can the experiences of school-based administrators who self-identify as members of underrepresented groups inform and empower others who aspire to the role?
  - a. What do school-based administrators from underrepresented groups identify as factors which encouraged them to pursue this leadership role?
  - b. What do school-based administrators from underrepresented groups identify as barriers to achieving their position?
- 2. How can leaders encourage members of underrepresented groups in their pursuit of school-based administrative roles?
- 3. What do school-based administrators from underrepresented groups believe the school district could do to achieve greater representation within leadership positions?

# 1.4 Positionality of Researchers

The three researchers have a mutual interest in equity and diversity in formal educational leadership. We have diverse backgrounds and self-identify with one or more underrepresented groups—one researcher identifies as a racially underrepresented, another grew up in poverty, and all three are women. Therefore, the researchers acknowledge their intersectionality<sup>1</sup> and the ways in which their lived experiences shape their beliefs and biases as well as the impact it can have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Intersectionality is a theoretical perspective that states "social justice movements must consider all the intersections of identity, privilege and oppression that people face in order to be just and effective." It examines and critically reflects upon "our gender, class, race, sexuality, and…more – that inform our experiences in life and our interactions in the world" (Oluo, 2018, p. 74-75).

on their research. It is of utmost importance for individuals to examine their intersectionality in order to "acknowledge [the] advantages [that] may have kept [them] from first seeing the disadvantages others face" (Oluo, 2018, p. 78). We recognize our identities and experiences have shaped our values, beliefs, assumptions and biases.

Personal experiences and perceptions are powerful. As women we have been socialized towards certain beliefs as they relate to authority and management. Our own experiences have led to internalized beliefs about women in leadership. We are informed by research attesting to a low representation of women in formal educational leadership positions. The research has also pointed to how systemic and perceived barriers have further perpetuated a homogenous replication of those in leadership (Robinson et al., 2017). The research affirms our lived experiences. We will need to maintain an awareness of these experiences and how they shape our assumptions and interpretations throughout the research process. We also acknowledge that we hold a western, colonial perspective as settlers on the shared traditional territories of the Katzie, Kwantlen, Semiahmoo, Qayqayt, Kwikwetlem, and Coast Salish Peoples which impacts our positionality as researchers. Consequently, a critical theory lens will inform our research.

In their roles as teachers, the researchers have witnessed the diversity within their schools and community. They recognize that their teacher colleagues who identify with visible and invisible underrepresented groups reflect some of the diversity within the student population.

These include members of the LGBTQIA2+ community, individuals of lower socio-economic status, immigrants or individuals living with a disability. It appears that representation is greater at the school level than at higher levels of leadership. In spite of their education, experience, curricular knowledge and encouragement from mentors, teachers from underrepresented groups may continue to internalize a belief that advanced leadership is reserved for those of exceptional

character and ability, and for those possessing the social, cultural and economic characteristics of the white, male, heterosexual, Christian middle class. While these values and beliefs are self-imposed, they are affirmed by a lifetime of socialization that has privileged certain groups over others (Pajak & Green, 2003).

Our hope is to empower underrepresented educators by revealing that they are not alone in their experiences and the barriers they may have encountered. Historically, underrepresented groups have been disenfranchised by a lack of representation and a system of institutionalized oppression. Opening up spaces for more voices in schools and leadership positions recognizes the past while continually committing to a just and equitable society. The educational gains of this research are to raise awareness among underrepresented educators pursuing formal leadership positions as well as those hiring for these positions. Our research will provide the perspectives of underrepresented groups to those hiring for leadership positions. Greater representation at a leadership level will provide a wider variety of perspectives and experiences to be present in policy and decision-making processes. This will ultimately benefit students, teachers, administrators in the school district as well as the community.

#### **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

Our research examines the issue of underrepresentation in educational leadership. We have conducted a review of the literature on representation in educational leadership and found that educational leaders are not reflective of the diversity among teacher nor student populations. The review begins with research that shows the positive effects of representation in schools, then we explore the leadership pipeline and norms of traditional leadership as obstacles preventing members of underrepresented groups from seeking and achieving leadership positions. The next theme examines several studies suggesting that current leaders can work with those who are underrepresented to identify and break down the barriers and fight for a democratic and equitable education system that better reflects the diversity in our society. We end our review by identifying the gaps in the existing research and situating our proposed research study in the context of the existing literature.

#### 2.1 Positive effects of representation in schools

Research has shown that representation among Canadian teachers and leaders is not representative of the increasing diversity of the general population (Ryan, Pollock & Antonelli, 2009; Sensoy & DiAngelo, 2017). As student populations become more diverse, the need for representation is increasing. While the normative impact of representation is positive, research on the effects of representation in schools is limited (Meier, Wrinkle & Polinard, 1999; Pitts, 2005).

The theory of representative bureaucracy posits that the presence of underrepresented bureaucrats in public agencies can improve outcomes for clients who share their identity (Atkins, Fertig & Wilkins, 2014). There is evidence that representation in public agencies, including schools, results in more just and equitable public policies. Niesche (2016) states that

"schools and leaders' practices have, often despite good intentions, resulted in inequitable and sometimes discriminatory outcomes for students of a variety of backgrounds" (p. 151). Solomon (1997) suggests that teachers from underrepresented groups can serve as representatives, speaking on behalf of students who share their identity, educating other teachers, and dispelling myths and negative stereotypes. In his study, Solomon (1997) found that teachers of colour have the opportunity to be the multicultural and antiracist education "experts" in their schools leading to more culturally responsive teaching. Teachers from underrepresented groups are aware of the concerns of students who share their identity and therefore better able to advocate for just and equitable pedagogy and policies. Furthermore, teachers from underrepresented groups report that they were inspired by role models (Campbell-Stevens, 2009; Lee, 2019), and are motivated to be role models for others (Solomon, 1997).

The presence of teachers who share their identity has been shown to improve both educational and non-educational outcomes for students (Atkins, Fertig, & Wilkins, 2014; Dee, 2004; Egalite, Kisida & Winters, 2015). There is also research to show that the presence of underrepresented groups in school leadership improves educational outcomes for students of the same group (Pitts, 2005). Representation increases school connectedness for students from underrepresented groups which leads to higher grades and increased levels of wellbeing (Atkins, Fertig, & Wilkins, 2014).

# 2.2 The leadership pipeline

There is greater diversity in the principalship within elementary schools compared to secondary schools. This lack of diversity within secondary schools is in line with what Chan, Ngai and Choi (2016) found, drawing upon the work of Blackmore, 1999; Chisholm, 2001; Deem, 2003; and Smulyan, 2000, confirming that "strong and competent school leaders are

usually expected to be goal oriented, instrumental, competitive, assertive and totally committed to their work—all stereotypes that favour men and masculinity" (p. 195). These stereotypical perceptions could explain why there are more female principals in elementary schools. The nurturing and caring stereotypes ascribed to females are perceived to be more suitable for working with young children in elementary schools, whereas these same qualities are seen as too soft to be effective within secondary schools. For the position of a secondary principal, stereotypical masculine leadership characteristics are traditionally more favorable. These characteristics include having a tough physical appearance and the ability to handle teenagers who may challenge authority. These stereotypes further perpetuate the "gendered division of labour—that men manage and that women teach—supports tradition, and therefore patriarchy" (Blackmore, 2010, p. 54).

Research has found that inequitable pathways to the principalship are not explained by *systematic* differences in the process of hiring. Instead, research has shown that those from underrepresented groups moving into leadership positions are impacted by inequitable hiring practices stemming from *systemic* bias. (Davis et al., 2017; Fuller, Reynolds & O'Doherty, 2016; Myung, Loeb, & Horngal, 2011). Leadership paths continue to be shaped by stereotypes as "women and men of color still have lower odds of becoming a principal relative to white men" (Fuller, Hollingworth & An, 2019, p. 147). Principals, most of whom are white males, tend to "disproportionately tap teachers who are male and share their ethnicity" (Myung et al., 2011, p. 696). It has been found that often white males "are less likely to encourage teachers of color to enter the leadership pipeline" (Fuller et al., as cited in Fuller, Hollingworth, & An, p. 137). In many schools where the majority of students are of colour, the teaching staff continues to be primarily white (Pollard, 1997). By the same token, although the teaching staff is dominated

by white females, principals continue to be white, male and middle class (Pollard, 1997; Williams, 2017).

Informal networks make a huge impact on who is encouraged to pursue leadership positions and place those in underrepresented groups in a disadvantaged position. Those in leadership positions often hold prejudicial stereotypes of preferred traits of potential leaders. This prejudice is often based on strong masculine cultural stereotypes (Fitzgerald, 2006; Koenig, Eagly, Mitchell & Ristikari, 2011; Lee, 2019; Lopez, 2017). Women may internalize these stereotypes; thus, even when women possess outstanding qualifications for leadership, they often perceive that they cannot be a leader (Hill, Miller, Benson, & Handley, 2016; Koenig et al., 2011; Pollard, 1997; Reed, 2012). For aspiring leaders, these perceived deficits also deter them from pursuing formal leadership positions. In spite of their education, qualifications, experience and encouragement from mentors, they may hold an internalized belief that leadership is reserved for those of exceptional character and ability—most notably those possessing the social, cultural and economic characteristics of the middle class (Coleman, 2012; Lee, 2019; Lopez, 2017; Williams, 2017). The overall effect is to create a sense of disempowerment (Bogotch, 2015; Ryan, 2006).

As a result, those from underrepresented groups often feel the need to work harder to get noticed for their leadership capabilities. Knowing that they do not fit the leader stereotype, they perceive a need to prove they can do the job. In particular, Reed (2012) found that "women with families tend to work even harder to 'prove' themselves and their worthiness to be in leadership roles," however "when men in this study were asked how they justified their leadership roles, they could not even relate to the question" (p. 41). This type of pressure has also been found in other literature where LGBTQIA2+ teachers have put more than the average amount of time

and energy into their teaching, "often over-performing in order to develop a positive professional reputation as an outstanding teacher or teacher leader" (Lee, 2019, p. 3). Reed's (2012) study found that participants felt a constant need to show they were the best at what they did in order to get noticed; and, when they had thoughts of pursuing leadership positions, they felt they should just settle, appreciate and be grateful for their current position. Although research has mostly been done on the intersectionality of race and gender, as opposed to invisible underrepresented groups, the barriers of bias and stereotypes still apply.

For individuals who self-identify as underrepresented, a lifetime of discrimination, racism and oppression results in "years of unconscious assimilation and socialization" (Brookfield, 2014, p. 93). In effect, they are unaware of the 'hidden' norms and practices that place them at a disadvantage (Cruz-Gonzales, Segovia & Lucena, 2019). These may be embedded in traditional hierarchies, hiring policies and even coded language. Rather than identifying and recognizing forms of institutional and systemic oppression, individuals blame themselves for their difficulties (Bonnycastle, 2011; Picower, 2013).

Mentors who are role models can inspire prospective leaders by demonstrating that these challenges can be overcome. However, mentors and role models for underrepresented leaders are scarce (Thorpe, 2018; Quilantán & Menchaca-Ochoa, 2004; Jack & Lobovsky, 2016).

Researchers have recognized that mentorship also aids underrepresented aspiring leaders in navigating the leadership pipeline (Ogunbawo, 2012; Coleman & Campbell-Stevens, 2010; Lee, 2019). Several school districts and organizations have implemented programs and incentives to recruit leaders from underrepresented groups, such as "The Courageous Leaders" mentorship program for LGBTQIA2+ in London, England (Lee, 2019), the "Aspiring Racialized Leaders Mentorship Program" in Mississauga, Canada (Jack & Lobovsky, 2016), and the "Investing

in Diversity" program for Black and Minority Ethnic Leaders in London and Leeds, England (Coleman & Campbell-Stephens, 2010). These programs aim at breaking down the systemic barriers and internalized oppression that deter potential leaders. Among those who participated in "The Courageous Leaders" program, most reported that they felt more open, confident, and relaxed after participating in the mentorship program and the majority of participants in the cohort were promoted into positions of senior leadership in schools (Lee, 2019). "Investing in Diversity," funded by the National College for School Leadership, explored the challenges faced by Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) educators in their pursuit of leadership roles. For participants in all these programs, seeing their identities mirrored in role models and mentors helped them to recognize their own leadership qualities, which enabled them to aspire to leadership roles (Coleman & Campbell-Stevens, 2010).

Although there are advantages to these specialized programs, there are some drawbacks. While these leadership programs provide underrepresented groups with more equitable opportunities, those in the programs could potentially feel inferior if they have the perception that they need to rely on a special program in order to achieve a leadership role. Participants in Jack and Lobovsky's (2016) study were conflicted in their opinions of the programs. From the perspective of an outsider looking in, they recognized that the programs could be viewed as discriminatory because they reinforce different pathways for different groups; and, because of "colleagues' claims of favoritism in explaining their promotions, many BME leaders viewed specialized preparation programs as fodder for ongoing criticism" (Jack & Lobovsky, 2016, p. 174). Suggestions have been made that if these programs reinforce "different career trajectories for individuals based on their race, then the preparation programs themselves are discriminatory" (Jack & Lobovsky, 2016, p. 174). Others add that "merit-based promotion processes

that reproduce historic patterns of glass ceiling advancement for certain ethno-racial, gender, religious, or other identities signal the presence of conscious bias in the process itself, or an uncritical bias in how merit is defined" (Jack & Lobovsky, 2016, p. 182). On the other hand, without the programs, inequalities in leadership roles would continue with "little chance of significant change to the persistent imbalance between the numbers of successful white and BME school leaders" (Jack & Lobovsky, 2016 p. 174).

Transformational leadership often focuses on transforming the behaviour of participants rather than on the underlying organizational structures and cultures. This provides more reason as to why there needs to be a focus on identifying and empowering leaders who can undertake critical work with regards to race, gender and how privilege works (Blackmore, 2010).

Fundamentally, it seems that the focus should not be on implementing customized programs for 'the Other.' Such programs make 'the Other' obvious and place them in a position of being expected to explain their difference. Thus, before deciding whether these programs work as they are intended, it may also be useful to recognize "the Other within ourselves; that is, learn to know ourselves before learning about the other" (Blackmore, 2010, p. 56). More importantly, the focus needs to be on providing opportunities for all leaders to partake in competence-based programs that focus on the development of the cross-cultural skills necessary to deliver multicultural, anti-racist education and address other equity issues (Blackmore, 2010; Lopez, 2003).

# 2.3 Leadership identity: Normalization of underrepresentation

Rather than serving the majority, institutions, including schools, are designed to replicate and advance the interests of the dominant class (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1977 as cited in Pajak & Green, 2003). Consequently, traditionally marginalized individuals face challenges as

they attempt to move into leadership positions. Those with the cultural, social and economic capital of the middle and upper classes are privileged while traditionally marginalized individuals encounter institutional and systemic barriers (Barakette & Cleghorn, 2000; Gale, 2000; Ryan, 2006; Osborne, 2008; Pajak & Green, 2003).

Attempts to disrupt systemic inequity with more equitable practices highlight entrenched systemic practices. In their study of community engagement and democratic leadership practices, Ryan and Rottendam (2009) found that, when challenged, leaders drew upon the status quo, in this instance, traditional hierarchies of leadership, to legitimize their authority. The study concluded that efforts aimed at providing inclusive, equitable practices ultimately "[mask] more subtle controlling practices and [marginalize] already-disenfranchised groups" (p. 476).

Additionally, Lopez's (2017) autoethnographic study of her experiences as a racialized, immigrant woman and educational administrator in Canada speaks to both the internalized as well as external mechanisms that act upon leaders who identify as historically marginalized.

While her racialized identity provided experiential knowledge that assisted her in supporting the educational outcomes of disadvantaged students, she often experienced resistance. Ultimately, stereotypes were enacted to undermine her authority, expertise and effectiveness. The values of the dominant group took precedence at the expense of the pursuit of inclusive and equitable praxis.

Institutionalized and systemic forces continue to work against aspiring and current leaders whose identities are underrepresented. There are many ways in which the dominant classes unknowingly marginalize members of underrepresented groups (Brookefield, 2014; Ryan & Rottendam, 2009). Several studies identify various ways in which stereotypes impact educational leadership. Coleman (2012) noted "a general tendency to apply [a white,

middle class] stereotype to leadership" (p. 597). The effect is not only a stereotype that "perpetuates existing perceptions of power and authority" (Fitzgerald, 2006), but also the othering of any individual who fits outside the norm (Coleman, 2012). The overall effect of this stereotype was pressure to fulfill the roles and expectations of the leadership stereotype, resulting in a change in values and beliefs for the leader or a disconnect with oneself (Cruz-Gonzales, Segovia & Lucena, 2019; Fitzgerald, 2006; Lee, 2019; Lopez, 2017). Further, the examination of identity fails to acknowledge that individuals are complex, with a multitude of overlapping identities (Cruz-Gonzalez, Segovia, & Lucena, 2019; Fitzgerald, 2006; Lee, 2019; Oluo, 2018). Current characterizations of effective leadership, therefore, are reduced to a singular characterization that fails to acknowledge the diversity among educators or the student populations they serve.

### 2.4 Fostering leadership capacity: a social justice lens

Schools are particularly powerful sites to both replicate but also change society.

Therefore, a social justice perspective not only serves those who are traditionally marginalized within the system, but also empowers them to disrupt and effect change. Rather than attributing failure to succeed within a system on individuals, a social justice approach challenges the systems and conditions within our society that perpetuate inequity (Bonnycastle, 2011; Niesche, 2016; Picower, 2013). Social justice education holds educators responsible for identifying, challenging and removing existing forms of systemic and institutionalized oppression (Ryan, 2015; Lee, 2019). This perspective is premised on the belief that a society is only as healthy as its most vulnerable members. In this way, educational leaders are not only responsible for removing institutionalized forms of oppression for their students, but also for their colleagues (Lee, 2019; Lopez, 2017). Social justice education calls upon educational leaders within

the system to use their privilege to open and hold space for traditionally marginalized groups to be represented and heard (Bogotch, 2015; Ryan, 2006).

Some researchers confirm the perspective that the pursuit of social justice and equity in schools positively impacts all students, most notably those who are traditionally marginalized (Crockett, 2002; Ibrahim, 2015; Lopez, 2017). It is our assertion that the pursuit of greater representation among school-based administrators will have a similar effect. Coleman's (2012) review of leadership and diversity coverage in the past 40 years of *Educational Management Leadership and Administration* speaks to both the concept of leadership for diversity and leadership with diversity. The latter speaks to the impact greater representation has on staff and students, while leadership for diversity aims to increase the number of people from underrepresented groups present among educational leaders. The cumulative effect is an educational system that "[values] difference [among its educators] rather than trying to eliminate it" (Coleman, 2012, p. 605). Greater representation among educational leaders will not only result from challenging and removing systemic barriers, but also from affirming the lived experiences of individuals from underrepresented groups.

An investigation of representation among educational leaders is not expected to end the lack of diversity. Its goal is to achieve greater diversity among leaders as a means to inform practices and policy that will result in a more equitable, democratic and socially just system. In sum, a social justice view of educational leadership acknowledges the existence of systemic inequities and its effects with an intention to develop and support initiatives aimed to redress those inequities (Shields, 2010). Most importantly, the intent is not to criticize individuals currently holding positions of authority. Rather, it is a systemic perspective that "not only works for the good of every individual in the school system; at its heart, it has the potential to work

for the common good of society as well" (Shields, 2010, p. 583). The goal is to establish a system that is democratic, equitable and reflective of all its stakeholders.

# 2.5 Overcoming barriers

The proverbial ceiling preventing underrepresented groups from rising to higher levels of leadership is a reminder that true diversity is not the norm. In order to tap and break the ceiling, one must learn to overcome barriers, which requires knowing what the current norms are, adopting and navigating through them. This comes with many challenges for those in underrepresented groups because the norms can go against one's own way of doing things. For example, cultural behaviors that might go against existing leadership stereotypes include "speaking too quietly (a sign of weakness) or too loudly (a sign of forcefulness), the requirement to self-promote (seen as shameful in some cultures), and speaking with gestures (a para-linguistic norm in some cultures but outright discouraged during promotion interviews in the district)" (Jack & Lobovsky, 2016, p. 177). The same study found that racialized participants who were not native speakers of English felt apprehensive about their accents and saw it as a leadership shortcoming.

In order to disrupt the status quo, it is imperative to learn about how others have been able to overcome barriers. Pollard (1997) has found that those who were able to break the glass ceiling focused on playing an active role to counter stereotypes; having high confidence in their ability to overcome obstacles; and using their race, gender and/or class to be role models and advocates for their students. Instead of being defeated by the barriers that faced them due to their race, gender and class, they used it as a basis for empathizing with their students (Pollard, 1997). They found themselves better able to relate to their students' experiences which brought a unique perspective to their job (Pollard, 1997). These coping and resiliency strategies, along

with resisting a defensive perspective, were the key to escaping oppression. Essentially, they focused on a strength-based mindset.

Based on our experiences, the leadership pipeline of underrepresented groups is not often talked about because it is an emotionally and politically charged topic. In disclosing internal and external challenges, uncomfortable, potentially traumatic memories may be recalled. There could also be fear of jeopardizing one's position by speaking out and disrupting the status quo. However, uncovering how principals and vice-principals from underrepresented groups have overcome barriers is imperative to helping others achieve leadership positions and push the boundaries of hiring beyond tokenism. True diversity can only occur when one clearly sees and feels a reflection of themselves in those around them.

#### 2.6 Summary

There is limited scholarship focusing on the issue of underrepresentation in school leadership. While the rationale for diversity in leadership is well supported, the impact of diversity in leadership has yet to be fully explored.

First, although gender discrepancies within leadership positions have been well researched, there have been limited studies done with those identifying as LGBTQIA2+ (Lee, 2019). These groups also face challenges and barriers perpetuated by leadership norms and stereotypes. Seeking to name these challenges and barriers is the first step to creating safe and inclusive communities and encouraging the pursuit of leadership.

Second, there is a gap in the literature in relation to race and leadership. The paucity of research on the representation of racialized groups in education is most notable in Canada. Other jurisdictions like the USA and the UK have sought to increase representation through mentorship programs and financial incentives for racialized educators (Coleman & Campbell-Stevens,

2010; Jack & Lobovsky, 2016). Despite Canada's multicultural identity and the progressive policies of the current federal government, the issues of racism and inequality are very real challenges in our communities and in our schools. The extent of underrepresentation in educational leadership in Canada needs to be investigated systematically as a first step towards understanding the reasons racialized groups are underrepresented. Furthermore, addressing racism and inequality requires a willingness to examine the ways in which the whiteness of schools has historically disadvantaged racialized groups, which include not only students, but also teachers and leaders.

Additionally, the various missing voices in leadership have resulted in a narrow conception of leadership, diversity and inclusion (Fitzgerald, 2006; Lopez, 2003). Increased representation in leadership gives voice to the experiences of those who have been marginalized (Solomon, 1997). Therefore, the teachers and leaders who are best qualified to share wisdom and guide practice around these issues are those who have been marginalized. Diverse perspectives from underrepresented groups in leadership are more likely to challenge the status quo and envision new ways of leading for equity and justice. Although, there has been an increasing focus on social justice leadership, it emphasizes training leaders in cultural responsiveness, ways of thinking, and skills, rather than actual diversification of the workforce (Niesche, 2016).

Third, the concept of intersectionality is not well understood, specifically as it relates to a leader's unique perspective and ability to recognize and respond to the needs of diverse staff and students. A leader's personal history, especially one that includes marginalization, influences one's identity as a leader (Fitzgerald, 2006; Lee, 2019; Lopez, 2017; Robinson et al., 2017). Though a history of marginalization or oppression can reinforce self-doubt about one's ability to

lead, past experiences and challenges can also empower leaders to become more culturally responsive.

Fourth, the literature fails to explore the impact of internalized oppression on the pathway to leadership. A potential leader may not identify themselves as a leader if they do not see leaders who share their identity (Campbell-Stevens, 2009; Lee, 2019). Struggling to fit into predefined leadership roles can be a barrier to pursuing leadership (Trinidad & Normore, 2005). Exploring and expanding the definition of effective leadership can help those who might not otherwise be accustomed to seeing people who reflect their identity in positions of leadership. Understanding the internal struggles of those who have doubted their ability or worthiness to lead could also inform hiring policies and practices that would encourage and empower more educators from underrepresented groups to seek leadership positions.

While mentorship programs are one way to encourage and develop aspiring leaders, more attention needs to be given to how aspiring leaders are invited, mentored and supported to ensure that all groups have the same opportunities. Additionally, more role models are needed to act as formal and informal mentors (Thorpe, 2018; Quilantán & Menchaca-Ochoa, 2004; Jack & Lobovsky, 2016). It is also unclear whether mentorship serves the specific purpose of increasing diversity among leaders. Longitudinal studies are needed to determine the connection between both formal and informal mentoring relationships and underrepresented aspiring leaders' successful attainment of leadership roles.

Finally, there is a need for further research demystifying the leadership pipeline. By uncovering and sharing the narratives of those who have successfully transitioned to leadership, aspiring leaders can better understand their own experiences and discover ways to overcome the challenges. Examining multiple points in the pipeline can inform how leaders are recruited,

selected, developed and retained (Stevenson, 2006). As well, it can help bring more to light about those who have successfully transitioned into the principalship and those who have not (Davis et al., 2017). Unfortunately, there is little research on how, when, and why the transition from a teacher to a vice principal occurs, especially with those from underrepresented groups in a Canadian context. This transition is often a mystery even though most principals were once teachers (Stevenson, 2006). It is important to document the accomplishments of these individuals who have been able to break the ceiling to encourage the pursuit of leadership positions.

In conclusion, while there appears to be a desire to diversify leadership in education, the ways to achieve this remain unclear. Further research can seek to uncover both the personal and systemic factors that discourage or encourage potential leaders from a variety of underrepresented groups. This information can then inform districts seeking to increase diversity among their leadership. The effects of representation in educational leadership cannot be fully understood without first increasing diversity. The hope is that by investigating the stories of current administrators who self-identify as members of underrepresented groups our research can inform efforts to further increase representation in educational leadership.

### **Chapter 3: Research Methods and Design**

Our study examined the experiences of vice-principals and principals who self-identify as members of visible and invisible underrepresented groups regarding opportunities and challenges they have faced when pursuing leadership roles. In examining the experiences of the participants, the study also explored their perceptions as they relate to opportunities and challenges for other aspiring educational leaders. Our interest was in exploring the ways greater representation among formal educational leaders can encourage and inform others.

#### 3.1 Research Setting

The study was conducted in an urban school district located within the Metro Vancouver region of British Columbia. The school district has been given the pseudonym, Evergreen School District, in order to protect its identity. The school district was selected for its large size and social, cultural, economic and demographic diversity. The district is made up of several catchment areas, some of which include inner-city schools while others are located in predominantly middle and upper class communities.

Focusing on the experiences of participants required an approach that emphasizes "participants' specific statements and experiences" (Creswell, Hanson, Clark & Morales, 2007, p. 252). Consequently, our study was qualitative. For members of underrepresented communities, a qualitative approach opens a space for their voices to be heard, honoured and shared. The researchers focused on the experiences and lived realities of each participant based on the assumption that knowledge and reality are socially constructed (Lee, 2019; Yilmaz, 2013).

The decision to examine the experiences of underrepresented communities comes from a transformative, critical lens. It acknowledges that, traditionally, individuals and groups have been marginalized. A phenomenology framework (Creswell et al., 2007) allowed researchers to

explore participants' individual experiences with an aim "to make explicit the implicit structure and meaning of human experience" (Lee, 2019, p. 5). While each individuals' path to leadership is unique, the researchers sought to identify commonalities among the administrators' experiences. The researchers' aim is that these common experiences will resonate with others who identify as underrepresented to inform and inspire others with similar experiences and aspirations.

#### 3.2 Participant Recruitment

Following approval from both the Behavioural Research Ethics Board (BREB) and the school district in which the research took place, the researchers emailed a letter of invitation to 243 principals and vice principals. The letter of invitation identified the researchers, Principal Investigator, and Researcher Supervisor, and explained that the research project was a capstone project required for completion of a UBC Master of Education degree. In order to ensure informed consent, the letter also included the educational context of the research, its purpose, as well as the measures taken to ensure participant confidentiality. This included details relating to the storage of data on encrypted, password protected devices, and contact information in case the participants had any questions or concerns. Further, participants were informed that the collection of questionnaire data complied with the BC Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (FIPPA) with data kept secured, stored and backed up in Canada. The letter included a link to a questionnaire on Qualtrics, an online survey tool available to University of British Columbia staff and students. Participants had the right to not answer any of the questions on the questionnaire. Completion of the questionnaire indicated their consent to participate in the study.

Since the initial response rate was low (3%), the letter was sent again and the response rate rose to 5%. Eleven respondents completed the questionnaire; however, one respondent did

not meet the criteria for inclusion and was thus excluded. A total of ten questionnaire responses were analyzed. Six respondents expressed an interest in a follow-up interview. Two respondents chose to withdraw from the interviews before they were conducted. A total of 4 participants were interviewed.

Participants in this study included one vice-principal and 10 principals in the Evergreen School District. Their appointment to a leadership position indicated that they have successfully navigated the district's leadership recruitment and hiring processes. They also self-identified as a member of an underrepresented group. Such identities included, but were not limited to, those members of the LGBTQIA2+ community, immigrants, Indigenous, racially underrepresented and other visible and invisible groups. One respondent did not meet the criteria for inclusion. Therefore, their questionnaire responses were not included in the data analysis. Consequently, ten questionnaires were analyzed.

#### 3.3 Data Collection

3.3.1 Questionnaire. The questionnaire was administered using the online survey tool Qualtrics. The researchers chose a questionnaire as the primary method of data collection for the confidentiality it offered participants (Fowler, 2012). Participants were asked to share professional experiences as members of underrepresented groups. According to Fowler, "sensitive information is more frequently, and almost certainly more accurately, reported in self-administered modes" (p. 74). Furthermore, an online questionnaire allowed participants to respond at a time and place that was convenient to them. This ease of response was intended to maximize the number of questionnaires completed (Fowler, 2012). The questionnaire (Appendix A) was comprised primarily of closed (multiple-choice) questions. Some of the multiple-choice questions were followed by open-ended questions. This provided participants an opportunity to

share their experiences and perspectives in more detail. As stated by Yilmaz (2013), "openended responses let the researcher understand and present the world as it is seen and experienced
by the participants" (p. 313). The selection of questions was informed by the researchers' own
experiences as well as existing studies on this topic (Thomas, 2007; Yilmaz, 2013). The final
question in the questionnaire confirmed the participant's informed consent to participate in the
study. At the end of the questionnaire, respondents were asked if they were willing to participate
in a follow-up interview. To indicate their consent for an interview, they completed a field in the
questionnaire to provide their name and contact information. Confidentiality for those who
consented to be interviewed was maintained; if a participant wished to engage in an interview,
the researchers immediately removed the contact information from the online questionnaire so
that the questionnaire data did not contain any identifiable information. Hard copies of the
questionnaire results were kept in a secure location and shredded upon completion of the study.
The researchers referred to the hard copies for interviewees' contact information and to prepare
for the interviews. Names have been replaced with pseudonyms in this research report.

3.3.2 Semi-structured interviews. The option of participating in a follow up semi-structured interview allowed participants the opportunity to provide more details and examples related to their questionnaire responses (Fowler, 2012). It also allowed the researchers to further explore with the interviewees some of the emerging themes from all participants (Creswell et al., 2007). Four interviews were completed. Each interview was approximately one hour in length and took place at a location of the interviewee's choice to allow flexibility and accessibility for our participants. Prior to meeting with the interviewees, we sent them the questions, giving them the opportunity to familiarize themselves with the kinds of information we would be seeking. Since administrators were asked to talk about barriers in their experiences as school leaders,

there was a potential risk of emotional or psychological discomfort. The researchers informed the participants at the beginning of the interview that counselling services were available. Contact information for the district's employee and family assistance program counsellors was available to participants upon request. Interviews were recorded and transcribed using Otter.ai, a U.S. based app. We informed participants of this and that, while conducting the study, data would be stored on U.S. servers and may be subject to U.S. laws. Transcriptions were sent to the interviewees for their personal reference, the opportunity to provide clarification or elaboration, or to withdraw certain information if they wished to do so. Participants had five days to respond to the researchers. Any non-responses were interpreted as acceptance of the transcript as is.

In preparation for the interviews, the researchers practiced and observed one another asking and answering the interview questions. Dilley (2000, p. 132) emphasizes that "one of the best ways to learn how to interview is to observe and analyze interviews." He states that some of the best interviews are conducted on the radio, thus intentional effort was made to listen to radio journalists (Dilley, 2000). One of the interview strategies Dilley (2000, p. 134) suggests is learning "to talk 20 percent of the time during the interview, and listen 80 percent." As well, specific skills such as making "eye contact, understanding body language, and active mental consideration of both the content (words) and context (emotions) of what is being said, and not being said" are imperative to the interviewers' accurate understanding of the interviewee's experiences (Dilley, 2000, p. 134). Ultimately, interviewing is a very complex process that requires the ability to listen, probe, anticipate, reflect, and read the respondent's spoken and unspoken responses, at the same time as providing a sense of comfort, safety, and being valued to the respondents.

# 3.4 Data Analysis

**3.4.1 Questionnaire.** Responses from the online questionnaire were aggregated using tools provided by Qualtrics, with the exception of the open-ended questions which were coded using the procedures explained in the following section.

3.4.2 Semi-structured Interviews. Once the semi-structured interviews were completed, Burnard's (1991) fourteen stages of analysis were helpful in unpacking the information gathered in the transcripts. The researchers focused on identifying common themes, understanding that sometimes there would not be any commonalities among those who were interviewed. We then removed information that was unrelated to the purpose, created categories and subheadings, cut up the transcript and organized it by code, and wrote the commentary with links to literature (Burnard, 1991).

3.4.3 Coding the Questionnaires and Semi-structured Interviews. When coding, we used both paper-based and computer-based approaches. The framework developed by Strauss (1987), Bogdan and Biklen (1992), Mason (1996) (as cited in Gibbs, 2007) guided us in developing possible codes. These codes were a starting point for the kinds of phenomena we were looking for; however, we maintained an open mind to other codes that surfaced when analyzing the responses. These codes included:

- Specific acts, behaviours what people do or say
- Events
- Activities
- Strategies, practices or tactics
  - Career Development

- Leadership Supports (either through mentors, professional development, workshops or other)
- Internal Challenges (feelings of inadequacy, confidence, inferiority or other)
- External Challenges
- States general conditions experienced by people or found in organizations
- Meanings a wide range of phenomena and what directs participants' actions
  - Past and current perception of equity representation in the district
- Relationships or interactions
  - Strong or weak connection to the importance of representation
- Conditions or constraints
  - Identity has positively or negatively impacted career development
- Reflexive
  - Advice to those aspiring to an administrative role
  - Advice to the district

The data from the responses was coded "with the same label to combine passages that are all examples of the same phenomenon, idea, explanation or activity. This form of retrieval was a very useful way of managing or organizing the data, and enables the researcher to examine the data in a structured way" (Gibbs, 2007, p.39). Once the data was coded, a list of larger categories was created and data was organized into broader themes. The researchers finalized their themes, then reviewed the data looking for commonalities and different perspectives among the responses. They reviewed the common narratives that emerged and reconsidered the themes in relation to the language used by the respondents.

#### 3.5 Ethical Considerations

The study was undertaken following receipt of an ethics review certification from BREB and approval of the school district to conduct the study. The researchers followed the guidelines of the Canadian Panel of Research Ethics and the 2<sup>nd</sup> edition of the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS 2). Participation in the study was dependent upon participants' voluntary informed consent. As "subjects must give free, informed and ongoing consent to participate in the study" (Bryman & Bell, 2016, p. 51), participants were asked to indicate their consent to participate in the study before submitting the questionnaire.

If a participant wished to engage in an interview, the researchers made hard copies of the questionnaire data and immediately removed the contact information from the online questionnaire so that online data did not contain any identifiable information. Hard copies of the questionnaire results were kept in a secure location and shredded upon completion of the study. The researchers referred to the hard copies for interviewees' contact information in order to prepare for the interviews. Participants signed a consent form prior to the commencement of the interview. Interviewees were informed that they could withdraw their participation at any time. At the beginning of the interview, participants were informed that the researchers had contact information for counselling services available to administrators through the district's employee and family assistance program. This information was available to participants upon request. They were also provided with transcripts for their review and requested to respond within five days.

Names have been replaced with pseudonyms in the research report. Participants in both the questionnaire and interviews were informed of their right to refuse to answer any questions.

The online questionnaire was hosted by Qualtrics. Questionnaire data was kept on the website server and accessed by the researchers. The researchers informed participants in advance that interview transcription would use a U.S. based software application, Otter.ai. We deleted the Qualtrics and Otter.ai accounts and all of the online data at the end of the study. Research notes were stored on an encrypted and password protected computer. Upon completion of the study, all data was transferred and stored on a flash drive in the Principal Investigator's office at UBC for a minimum of five years.

#### 3.6 Limitations

Some individuals may have chosen not to participate in the study because, regardless of the steps the researchers made to ensure confidentiality, participants may not have been ready to self-disclose (Lee, 2019) information about their professional experiences as members of underrepresented groups. This may be of particular concern to individuals living as members of invisible identity groups. The interviewees were asked about the low response rate. In addition to confidentiality, they suggested that formal leaders may not perceive barriers in their attainment or role as educational leaders. They also cited time constraints and volume of emails as potential factors. Moreover, the research was conducted in a single school district and this specific context could potentially limit the transferability of findings to other contexts (Yilmaz, 2013). Finally, the number of participants in the study was low and the range of identities represented by the respondents varied. Seven out of ten respondents were female, elementary school principals. The respondents not only represented a range of visible and invisible underrepresented groups, but also highlighted the intersecting nature of identity. Women, when applicable, identified being a mother as a significant part of their experiences when interviewed. Furthermore, some identities, such as being Indigenous or being associated with a racialized group, may be visible or invisible. Such diversity among respondents challenged the ability of the researchers to characterize the experiences for any one identity or individual. Therefore, the researchers analyzed the responses in relation to one another and their commonalities.

# 3.7 Sharing the Findings

The final report will be provided to the school district in which our study was conducted. Additionally, these findings may be presented at professional development conferences and/or published in a scholarly journal and UBC cIRcle, a database of material created by the UBC community and its partners.

### **Chapter 4: Findings**

The questionnaires and interviews provided insight into the experiences of vice-principals and principals who self-identify as members of visible and invisible underrepresented groups and the opportunities and challenges they faced when pursuing leadership roles. Their stories are shared in our findings below. Respondents' views on representation and a summary of their collective experience are presented first. Then we describe the supports and barriers encountered in their pathways to leadership. We conclude with respondents' suggestions to the district and their advice to aspiring leaders from underrepresented groups.

### 4.1 Profile of the Participants

We invited 243 vice-principals and principals in the Evergreen School District to participate in the study and received 11 completed questionnaires. The overall response rate was 5%. As there is no public data available regarding representation of underrepresented groups in administrative positions in the district, we believe the low response rate could be attributed to a few different factors. First, the actual representation of these groups within administrative positions in the district could be low. Second, for those who identify with underrepresented groups, they may not have experienced or perceived any barriers, so did not feel they could contribute to the study. Lastly, for those who do perceive barriers, they may not feel comfortable discussing these experiences, which may have led them to decide not to participate. When we shared information about the response rate with the interviewees, they speculated that others who identify as members of underrepresented groups may not feel comfortable disclosing their identity and experiences. We acknowledge that representation can be a sensitive topic and that talking about it can be difficult.

One questionnaire respondent was excluded from our analysis because they did not meet the criteria of identifying with an underrepresented group. The remaining ten respondents self-identified as members of visible (9) and invisible (1) underrepresented group(s). They described themselves as immigrants (2), Indigenous (2), LGBTQIA2+ (2), and members of underrepresented racialized/ethnic groups (4). Eight of the respondents identified as female and two as male. All ten of the respondents included in our analysis had been in positions of leadership for five or more years. One respondent was a vice-principal in a secondary school, one was a principal in a secondary school, and eight were principals in elementary schools. All but one spent five or more years teaching before becoming a formal leader.

Table 1. Participant Profiles (as self-described by participants)						
Participant Pseudonym	Identity	Visible or invisible underrepresented group	Leadership position	Length of time in leadership	School level	Length of time in teaching
Respondent 1	Female	Visible	Vice- Principal	5 or more years	Secondary	5-10 years
Respondent 2 (Sue)	Female, Indigenous	Visible	Principal	5 or more years	Elementary	Less than 5 years
Respondent 3 (Jay)	Male, Underrepresented racialized/ethnic group, Immigrant	Visible	Principal	5 or more years	Secondary	5-10 years
Respondent 4 (Naomi)	Female, LGTBQIA2+, Indigenous	Invisible	Principal	5 or more years	Elementary	More than 10 years
Respondent 5	Female, Immigrant	Invisible	Principal	5 or more years	Elementary	More than 10 years
Respondent 6	Male, Underrepresented racialized/ethnic group	Visible	Principal	5 or more years	Elementary	5-10 years
Respondent 7	Female, Underrepresented racialized/ethnic group	Visible	Principal	5 or more years	Elementary	More than 10 years
Respondent 8 (Deena)	Female, Underrepresented racialized/ethnic group	Visible	Principal	5 or more years	Elementary	5-10 years
Respondent 9	Female, LGTBQIA2+	Visible and invisible	Principal	5 or more years	Elementary	More than 10 years
Respondent 10	Female	Visible	Principal	5 or more years	Elementary	5-10 years

A total of six respondents indicated a willingness to be interviewed but two chose to withdraw before the interview and thus, we interviewed four of the respondents. The interviewees were one male principal in a secondary school and three female principals, all in elementary schools. Interviewees have been given pseudonyms. Participants that completed questionnaires but did not participate in interviews will be referred to as respondents and given codes—for example, R1.

# 4.2 Pathways to leadership

The study participants shared powerful narratives. Due to the sensitive nature of our study, which focused on those who self-identify with visible and invisible underrepresented groups, we have chosen to present the data of our study organized by themes in order to best protect the anonymity of our respondents. Each of their stories is unique and yet, commonalities among their narratives emerged, revealing a pathway to leadership that was influenced by both the encouragement of colleagues and support of formal leaders.

Many respondents recognized "very early on in [their] teaching career ... [that they were] encouraged by [their] principals" [Naomi] to "try becoming a VP" [Deena]. They were encouraged, supported and coached by administrators who first "convinced [them] to ... assume a leadership [role] in the school" [Jay]. In their schools, there were "teacher [leaders]" [Naomi] who "[developed] some good relationships ... [which] were helpful" [Deena]. As teachers, they were identified as possessing potential leadership skills and selected for "acting positions" [Deena], "leadership [roles]" [Naomi] or "prompted ... to apply for [a] vice-principal" position [Jay]. Throughout the application and hiring process, the interviewees reported that they were encouraged by "key people in [their] life who [they] respected, professionally and personally ... who helped along the way" [Naomi]. All of our interviewees worked in "difficult, challenging"

[schools]" that drew upon their "expertise [in] the inner city" [Deena]. Much of their success in inner city schools was attributed to their experience "[working] with a lot of children who had difficult childhoods" [Naomi] and the ability to "see the challenges [of their] learners ... and [have] an intimate understanding" [Sue]. Today, they are principals in the Evergreen School District who believe in their ability to affect positive change, not only for the underrepresented group with whom they self-identify, but for all students. They are "so thankful for [their mentors] pushing [them]" [Deena] but also to the district for a "formal leadership position and ... entrusting [them] with children and ... staff" [Naomi].

The common narrative from our interviewees shows that they were recognized for their skills by both their colleagues and administrators and encouraged to pursue formal leadership.

Their careers would lead them all, at one point or another, to work in inner-city schools that drew upon their personal backgrounds and experiences to understand the at-risk youth in their schools.

Today, they are principals who take pride in their achievements as well as their staff, students, and the district.

### 4.3 Importance of Representation

Across the board, we found very similar responses from our respondents on both the importance of diverse representation in administrative leadership and their perceptions of equitable representation of underrepresented groups in administrative positions. When asked to rate the importance of diverse representation in administrative leadership from not at all important, somewhat important, important and very important, all of our respondents chose very important. Our data indicates that representation not only impacts students, but teachers, parents and other leaders, as well. We discuss these findings below.

**4.3.1 Impact on Students.** From the perspective of the research participants, the importance of representation seems to be closely tied to a need for diverse role models for students. The perspective that role models and leaders should reflect the student population was widely shared.

Jay described the importance of being a role model for students who share a similar identity to his. One of the students in his school was upset about having recently been detained at an international border and asked Jay what he thought about it. Jay was able to relate to the student's experience, not only because he also happened to be detained at the border recently, but because he understands what it is like to feel marginalized in certain situations. Instances like this highlight the importance of building relationships with students so they do not feel alone. He said, "you know I'm in the hallway, all the time, and it's not about discipline, it's about being visible" [Jay]. He positions himself so that he can connect with and support students. He further stated, "Let us be the role models for our students. [If students] do [not see ethnic minorities] in power, it will continue to be a White man's world." It is evident that Jay believes in not only connecting with students, but also advocates for diversity as a whole. The importance of what Jay is stating is supported by research, as Solomon (1997) indicates students from underrepresented groups are "affirmed by the presence of teachers who shared the experience of difference, of being a part of the non-dominant group" (p. 402).

Sue also believed that role models are very important. She stated, "Indigenous people need to have positive role models at all levels." She went on to explain that it is difficult for Indigenous students to identify with their culture when living in an urban environment:

Being Indigenous, it is all about the land, it's all about the community, it's all about the people. The place. For me to say I'm [X First Nation] and I'm a member of the [X]

Nation, that's my identity. If you take [X] out of that and there's no land base, how do I know what my culture is? How do I know my practice? How do I know my language? That's who I am. And that's why our Indigenous people here are really, you know, lost sometimes, like they're trying to just blend into the mainstream. [Sue]

Sue doesn't "just blend into the mainstream" because she knows who she is: "I ... immersed myself into learning my culture, and my practices, and my language to give me a foundation of who I was as an individual." While she identifies with a different First Nations group than her students, she seeks to create a "connection to community" and a "sense of belonging" for her Indigenous students by inviting Indigenous cultural workers and community members into the school as role models [Sue]. This practice is supported by Solomon (1997) as he states, "role models were people with whom respondents could identify, and whose achievements, lifestyles, philosophies, and/or values had a positive impact on their self-esteem and aspirations in life." (p. 399).

Naomi also expressed the need for role models so that students "see themselves and they know that they could aspire to be whoever they are, and they feel like they belong." She went on to speak specifically of LGBTQIA2+ students: "When students who feel marginalized see LGBT teachers/VPs/Principals (or other marginalized groups) in leadership roles, they know they belong and have someone they can go to." Recalling her own experiences with discrimination as a youth she said, "So that's not going to happen to any kids on my watch. It's just not going to happen." Her identity has given her a deep sense of empathy for others who face similar challenges. Being able to identify with her students enables Naomi to recognize and advocate for students who may be vulnerable.

School-based leaders and teachers who share the same identity as their underrepresented students can also inform others about how to support those learners. Sue pointed out the value of having someone with knowledge of Indigenous students in a position of leadership "bringing that awareness and understanding and how to embed more cultural practices and how to be more respectful, [and] know the protocols of Indigenous people." Research has shown that representation in school leadership results in more just and equitable policies and practices (Atkins, Fertig & Wilkins, 2014; Solomon, 1997).

From the responses of Jay, Sue and Naomi, we understand that identification with others who have similar backgrounds and experiences is key to representation having a positive impact on students, not only in their current context, but also in their aspirations (Atkins, Fertig, & Wilkins, 2014; Pitts, 2005; Solomon, 1997). The findings of our research reflect the work of several theorists on the importance of having diverse role models to build better communities.

4.3.2 Impact on Teachers. Representation can influence aspiring leaders in many ways, according to study participants. Naomi felt strongly that embracing diversity is important for inclusion as she said, "we're going to make sure that everybody [knows] it's okay to be who you are and it wasn't just about being gay. It was about all the people who are underrepresented." Respondents also felt that representation sends the message that anyone can pursue and achieve formal leadership roles as one respondent wrote: "It gives the signal to all that, should they wish to play a leadership role, underrepresented groups are welcomed or encouraged to do so" [R5]. When representation is lacking, the opposite effect can happen - when one does not see themselves reflected in those leading, they cannot see themselves in those leadership positions. Jay explained, "[if teachers] don't see [people of colour in leadership] ... they get dejected." Our

respondents and interviewees voiced beliefs regarding the influence of representation on aspiring leaders of underrepresented groups.

**4.3.3 Impact on Families.** There is an overall sense among participants that representation allows for greater inclusion by providing a sense of belonging and encouragement for the community as a whole. One respondent said:

I have a deep understanding of the challenges that come with growing up as a visible minority. In addition, I find that many families that come from immigrant backgrounds can relate to me and find encouragement in the idea that a member of a visible minority can take on a leadership role at their school. [R6]

It is evident that R6 believes she is an effective role model because her identity and experiences are reflective of the students and parents with whom she works and are points of connection between her and the community she serves. Deena also echoed similar sentiments as she explained:

Not a day goes by without me getting hit by that idea that I was able to help a mother figure out how her child is doing ... through my mishmash of Punjabi, Hindi and Urdu ... even simple things like it's hot lunch day ... maybe we should have some Halal dogs ... some Sikhs don't eat meat ... little things that make it more inclusive ... I think being in the position I am in and visibly the way I am ... I get certain access points that other people don't get ... I do realize the benefit that me being in this position has had to a lot of families and kids.

Both R6 and Deena have drawn upon their personal histories to connect with and meet the needs in their school community. They pointed out that students need to see themselves reflected in their vice-principals and principals at the school level. It is evident that this reflection

has played an integral role in developing strong and positive relationships with students, parents and other members of the community.

4.3.4 Diversity in the Evergreen School District. All respondents, except for one who said they were unsure, indicated that there did not appear to be equitable representation of underrepresented groups in administrative positions. Respondents pointed out that this was particularly evident in those holding secondary principal positions and those in upper management roles. When asked whether they thought there was equitable representation, one respondent wrote: "Not at the principal level. And until recently, not in HR. 3/20 secondary principals are female" [R1]. It was noted that although there are many women holding elementary principal positions, the percentage of women to men is still not reflective of the proportion of women in teaching positions. Others wrote: "For a school district that has a lot of immigrants, it is surprising that there are so few of us" [Jay] and there are "still low numbers of Indigenous and people with different abilities" [R5]. When discussing the number of Asian principals in the district, Naomi stated, "There are some Asian principals, so I mean it's not unheard of, for sure, but given our student population it's just off. Right?" All of these respondents-R1, R5, Jay and Naomi-expressed the view that there continues to be inequitable representation, particularly when it comes to gender, race, Indigenous peoples, immigrants, LGBTQIA2+, and people with different abilities.

## 4.4 Supports for Greater Representation: Relationships

Respondents identified specific individuals who not only identified their leadership potential, but explicitly supported them to become school-based administrators. As teachers, the interviewees noted colleagues who identified their strengths and their leadership potential. At the least, they encouraged the respondent to pursue formal leadership positions in the district, and

some of them went further, coaching the respondent through the application process. Other respondents acted upon advice to seek out opportunities that developed their leadership skills in preparation to apply for formal leadership positions.

Relationships were an important source of motivation. The respondents recognized the positive effect of their colleagues and administrators on their decision to pursue formal leadership. These individuals highlighted the respondent's skills and abilities as teachers and the potential for them to become formal leaders. Deena reflected on the recognition she received after working on a district action research project: "everyone kept encouraging [me to apply] and I thought okay I'll try." In these instances, the messaging came directly from individuals who were positioned to observe, inform and encourage potential administrators. The positive messaging Naomi received from colleagues when she was a teacher-leader was confirmed by a former principal: "she talked me through the whole ... hiring process [including] the panel interview ... She basically gave me the confidence that I could do it" [Naomi]. The encouragement and recognition of their skills occurred at the school level and, then, was further confirmed at a district level.

While respondents never attributed their hiring to the efforts of specific individuals, they did draw confidence and support in subtle ways. For many, they drew strength from the knowledge that there were individuals who were witness to their work and expertise. The presence of a colleague on Naomi's interview panel provided reassurance: "I had some champions ... on both [the vice-principal and principal] interview committee, not by design ... [They] saw me in action so I [referred] to some specific examples of situations that I had handled." In that high-stake setting, the colleague's presence may have been able to corroborate the answers and examples they were providing. Further, the gestures of Naomi's 'champions'

during the interview provided subtle reassurance: "I could see her nodding. Even if I wasn't looking at [name of person] I could see her nodding, so I was like, okay, I'm doing okay." The interviewees viewed relationships and social connections as an asset. For both Jay and Naomi, relationships with district administrations and educational leaders were perceived to influence the success of an applicant. Jay confirmed that "your references make or break you" while Naomi asserted that "I think it's who you know." These informal social relationships and their role in supporting the respondents became more important as they moved into formal positions. As vice principals, the importance of references and name recognition became more evident:

When I applied I didn't really know anyone, other than I knew people at the school level ...then [when I became a VP] it became ... making a network of people at the district level because you ... didn't want to be invisible. [Jay]

As teachers, the interviewees skills and leadership qualities were observable and known among the staff and administrators in the interviewees school. Despite having proven themselves as teacher-leaders, they believed they had to rebuild their reputation when they entered formal leadership. Now, they were administrative leaders, responsible for an entire staff, no longer working daily with their peers or superiors and separate from the community of peers and mentors from which they had drawn support and encouragement. Social networking and relationships took on added significance for some respondents because gaining recognition for their work and skills was not as easy as before.

While positive messaging often came from individuals, Deena also recognized the ways in which the Evergreen School District provided encouragement, support and training. After two successful acting vice-principalships, Deena was encouraged by her colleagues and principal to

apply for a vice-principal position. Deena did not apply for an administrative position right away, however she began to attend District in-services:

we had to do an action research project and all that kind of stuff, and it was basically like trying to figure out who were the leaders in the district and trying to kind of train them and encourage them to apply into [administration].

For Deena, this district in-service provided a formal space to examine her practice and effect change for her students and the school, while cultivating her emerging interest in formal leadership. Upon reflection, she recognized the in-service was a forum for Evergreen District personnel to identify potential leaders. In this way, the positive messaging Deena received at the school level was further reinforced at the District level. The messaging for her was clear and explicit – the District provided opportunities to not only identify, but also support and prepare potential leaders. Attending and experiencing success at the in-service served to confirm the messaging Deena received at the school level to pursue a formal leadership position.

The respondents received messages from administrators and the district that communicated a confidence and interest in their leadership potential. This affirmation came after they embraced opportunities to become teacher-leaders and further developed their leadership skills. Such opportunities are particularly important for individuals who may not have the social and cultural capital to be "tapped on the shoulder" [Naomi] or know someone who can help navigate the complexity of the application and interview process that is often a prerequisite for formal leadership positions (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1977 as cited in Pajak & Green, 2003).

## 4.5 Barriers to Greater Representation

While they were not always able to name them, respondents described the barriers that were present in their pathways to leadership. Their perception of the district and its efforts to

address diversity were impacted by various factors, such as discrimination, misrepresentation, stereotypes and double standards, and equitable representation.

**4.5.1 Discrimination.** Discrimination does not exist in a singular form or place; it is prevalent throughout society and in the lived experience of underrepresented groups. Despite legislation and district policy designed to confront and eliminate discrimination on the basis of race, sexual orientation and gender, experiences of discrimination in various stages of their lives were reported by three of the four interviewees. The discrimination respondents experienced manifested itself in a variety of settings and situations throughout their lives: "being a lesbian is huge because I experienced a lot of discrimination, in my family, and as a child and as a young adult" [Naomi].

Sue's experiences with racism and marginalization were overt. When she attained a formal leadership position, she recalled times when she felt her qualifications were dismissed on the basis of her Indigenous identity: "they [saw] me as a minority first and then definitely [wrote] me off as, oh you just got the job because you're Indigenous." She further elaborated that the dismissing of her ability was more than a feeling: "when I started, I definitely felt it from my colleagues and they would say it to my face ... I also felt it from my teachers and they would say it to my face ... it was challenging." In these instances, the discrimination was overt and directly attributed to her racialized identity. This was consistent with Lopez's (2017) experiences as a racialized administrator. In spite of her expertise, knowledge and skill, colleagues drew upon the stereotypes of her identity to undermine her legitimacy as an educational leader.

Other forms of discrimination, while not aimed directly at an individual, are experienced personally. Naomi acknowledged that she "was very fearful" when she first arrived in the District in the midst of a public debate over LGBTQ themed content in the classroom: "I sort of

went a little bit in the closet, I didn't share too much with people." In an effort to protect herself from more personal acts of discrimination, she was cautious in what information she shared with others.

Sue identified that acts of racism and discrimination are a larger systemic issue: "As a minority, as an Indigenous person, it's always prevalent ... it's not one issue and then it's under the carpet. It's daily ... people [don't] realize how tough it is to be [an] invisible minority and have that undertone" [Sue]. Ultimately, racism, homophobia and other forms of discrimination are systemic and embedded within our society. As a result, discrimination is subtle (Bonnycastle, 2011; Niesche, 2016; Picower, 2013) and part of broader forms of systemic and institutionalized oppression (Barakette, 2000; Gale, 2000; Ryan, 2006; Osborne, 2008; Pajak & Green, 2003). Moreover, the internalization and normalization of racism and discrimination makes it difficult to identify. Perceptions and messaging from the dominant classes unintentionally impacts members of underrepresented groups (Brookefield, 2014; Ryan & Rottendam, 2009). These experiences highlight the difference between intent and impact. While the intent to marginalize and discriminate is not evident, the impact remains. The interviewees perceived that social norms were implicit but they also felt it was not acceptable to disclose their identity or address the wrong.

The ways in which discrimination is enacted has changed over the course of the interviewees' careers and lives. Today, racism and discrimination are more subtle. Respondents also expressed a willingness to "name, address it, bring it up [and] call out the haters" [Naomi]. While it was not clear how the respondents confront racism and discrimination, they did acknowledge that they felt confident in their ability to do so. For Sue, it was a matter of recognizing racism as a part of one's identity and learning how to confront it: "it's not

uncommon for me [to encounter racism] ... I know how to confront it. I know how to educate and help support people understand it, as opposed to, you know, when I was younger." There are several factors that may explain the respondents' confidence in confronting acts of discrimination. It may be that they are more self-aware and mature. Alternatively, a lifetime of discrimination may have led them to take action. Finally, as administrators, this confidence may stem from now holding a position of authority.

The creation of anti-discrimination and anti-racism policy within the Evergreen School District, for Naomi, is a step in the right direction. When she first began her career in the district, an LGBTQIA2+ content ban impacted her feeling acceptance: "it was horrible." When asked to describe the change she has witnessed in the district she shared:

It's totally changed because we have policy to back us up. More importantly, it's openly in the schools. We've got stickers, we've got SOGI, we've got books in the library, we've got two fabulous helping teachers who are helping adults and children alike, with social emotional learning and equity and inclusion.

These efforts mark a shift within the district that not only affirms Naomi's feelings of acceptance, but also the perception that the district is ready to embrace diversity. These actions signal a move towards further systemic and institutional change.

**4.5.2 Misrepresentation.** The practices of the Evergreen district as they relate to the placement of school-based administrators appears, at times, to emphasize an individual's presumed identity rather than their qualifications. Several respondents described times when they were hired for a formal leadership role and, subsequently, were assigned to a school with a cultural profile that aligned with their identities or with identities others attributed to them.

Both Jay and Deena identified times when their school placement corresponded to their own racialized identity in general terms. Jay's principal confirmed he "wanted someone that could identity with the Indo Canadian community." However, both Jay and Deena related that they did not speak the specific heritage language that was predominant in the school community in which they were placed. The cultural traits and stereotypes of the respondent's visible identity appeared to be a factor in both Jay and Deena's placements. Consequently, both respondents felt that assumptions were made about their cultural traits; for example, the ability to speak an additional language which, ultimately, ignore the subtle complexities of their cultural identity

While the efforts of the Evergreen School District may have missed the mark, the respondents acknowledged that they could "understand the cultural context of things sometimes better than another person" [Deena]. For example, as a member of an underrepresented cultural group, Deena understood the importance of respecting the dietary restrictions of the various ethnic groups in her school and how the choice of food could make special events more inclusive. In this way, her identity was an asset. For respondents who identify with underrepresented racialized and ethnic groups, understanding cultural norms gave them an advantage in responding to and supporting students and families in their schools. Similarly, a view of one's identity as an asset was also present in the questionnaire responses of three respondents who noted their identity was having a positive impact on their career and another six respondents who indicated their identity had both a positive and negative effect.

Ultimately, the district's considerations are complex when making hiring and placement decisions. It is difficult to account for the various external and underlying factors shaping decisions as well as individuals' perceptions of those decisions. However, respondents asserted that the hiring of formal leaders on the basis of their identities was never an affirmative action

exercise or tokenistic practice. Interviewees believed they were, first and foremost, qualified applicants who were selected to be formal leaders in the Evergreen school district because they were "bringing something to the table that is valuable" [Jay]. Deena pointed out that efforts by the district to find a formal leader to 'fit' a community, while well intentioned, were also risky: "you don't know if they're going to be able to succeed in that community with the language of the culture, just because they look like it. I don't speak Punjabi. I barely speak Urdu." The placement of formal leaders requires many considerations including, but not limited to the needs of the staff, students, community as well as logistics, qualification of formal leaders and many other factors. At times, formal leaders may have been placed at schools using assumptions about the school community, the formal leader or both.

**4.5.3 Stereotypes and Double Standards.** Challenges to increasing diversity and inclusion of aspiring leaders were most evident when it involved motherhood. Amongst our respondents, four out of eight females, and one out of three males indicated this challenge was directly related to traditional stereotypes of women and motherhood.

One stereotype that surfaced repeatedly in our data was that mothers are unable to handle administrative positions. Difficulty with having to choose between being a parent or pursuing an administrative position was expressed. One respondent indicated that she had "a few negative experiences when I told the employer I was expecting a baby" [R10]. Another respondent said, "When I was thinking of entering admin, I was told to wait because my own children were too young and what would I do if there was an emergency in the middle of the night requiring me to go into work?" [R1]. In analyzing our data, we noticed some women felt a need to hide information from the district about plans to start having children or continuing to have more children, and about childcare responsibilities. One respondent said, "As a VP, [I] was advised by

my principals to not talk about my private life as I might not get a principalship" [R9]. Deena remarked, "I think the misperceptions towards motherhood and the expectations, I don't think that's changed. I think that's still there, that whole having kids is going to be a problem if you take this job." She also remarked that if childcare support was in place during after school meetings, "you don't have to hide that you have daycare issues." These issues could refer to instances where an administrator would require emergency child care in order to attend to emergent situations but feel the need to hide this to avoid perpetuating the gendered stereotype. Deena continued to express strong feelings, saying, "I feel like being a woman, who has had to take two maternity leaves during my work as an administrator, has had an impact on the perceptions of upper management of me being able to take on the role." When prompted about whether there has been change or whether these stereotypes continue to exist in the same manner, Deena said she wished she could say things have changed, but the stereotypes are "definitely" still there:

I came back after my second daughter, and [a senior manager] who is not around anymore, said to me, "So are you going to be having any more kids? Need to know." [They] said that to me. And my friend who was pregnant, who was coming back at the same time ... she had three children. "Are you planning on having any more? You're gonna have a baseball team before you know it," that's what [they] said to her. And she was considering having a fourth, but it really affected her decision. Yeah, that was only eight years ago.

It is evident that this senior manager did not think there was anything wrong with asking female administrators these types of questions. Deena also indicated that this happened eight years ago,

so these were not instances that happened a long time ago, but, in fact, occurred within the last decade.

Unfortunately, not only have stereotypes been a barrier for moms, but a double standard has occurred at the same time. Jay said, "the female leaders in this district have to work harder, and whether it comes out of being over assertive or whatever, they have to work harder to prove themselves." He acknowledged a double standard when he said, "in the end, I'm still male, right? And then that's probably the privilege." He went on to explain how he had heard why someone did not get a principalship:

and the rumor is that she was not hired because she put her family first. So she might be in a meeting and her kid called from [school]. Oh, something has happened so she would leave the meeting to take the phone call, and the rumor is that prevented her from getting a principalship because she put her family before anything else. Yet, when I was hired, [I was told] "Oh yeah, make sure [to] take care of family, take care of family," and that was always *just* with the males ...

Jay's description of what he has experienced contrasts with the experiences of his female counterparts. He expressed that he felt supported in being a father and an administrator by district upper management and was even encouraged to prioritize his family's needs above his administrative duties. He did not express any need to hide family issues that would arise which is different from what we heard from mothers who are administrators. Due to his own experience of feeling supported in being both a father and an administrator, Jay firmly expressed that he is also very supportive of his vice-principal who is a mother. However, he points out he knows there are other principals who are not like-minded. He states:

I would never second guess someone. [My vice-principal] has two kids. If there's call,

there's never [a question]. Go, go, go home. And I would never look down on someone. However, I do know for a fact there are principals that would.

These findings have been supported in the literature where Robinson et al. (2017) state:

"Parenthood experiences are starkly different between men and women as well. White female superintendents are the least likely group to have children, followed by female superintendents of color. Both groups are nearly three to four times more likely to be childless than are males" (p. 6). When we asked Naomi her thoughts on this topic, she explained: "It's totally different for male and female ... I think it's just historic gender discrimination."

In the end, it was disheartening to hear Deena say, "Honestly, if I had to redo it again, [administration] I wouldn't have done it. I wouldn't have done it with my kids as babies, you know, because I missed a tonne." Deena mentioned a few times in her interview that there were sacrifices made due to her decision to continue in her leadership role. Our sense is, had she felt greater support for being a mother in an administrator role, she would have viewed the sacrifices she made differently. In our findings, it became clear that there are many challenges within the intersectionality of being a woman and a mom. These complexities seem to be rooted in deeply entrenched stereotypes of the roles of men and women leaders.

**4.5.4 Inequitable Representation.** It appears that the degree of diversity decreases at higher levels in the administrative hierarchy. This suggests that there is a 'ceiling' for members of underrepresented groups, which one respondent describes:

There is clearly not equitable representation, especially at the [district] level. There are 22 district senior educational admin [administrator] positions in Evergreen School District] (1 superintendent, 6 assistant superintendents, 4 directors of instruction, and 11 district principals) and only 2 of these positions are held by a visible minority. There needs to be

a sense of equitable representation in a large public organization from top to bottom and not just to middle-management. Currently, there seems to be a "ceiling" at the school-based admin level. Ethnic minorities are somewhat represented at the school-based administrator level, however, there seems to be a substantial underrepresentation at the board/district level positions, which is still predominantly represented by people of

Caucasian background, despite the ethnic diversity in Evergreen School District. [R6]

Deena echoed a similar sentiment stating, "Considering how many women and visible minority teachers there are, that is not represented in management roles ... especially in upper management roles." Our findings here affirm that our respondents feel there is a disproportionate number from visibly from underrepresented groups in upper management positions. Another respondent noted that the problem of underrepresentation was more pronounced for persons with disabilities and Indigenous peoples: "Indigenous peoples seem to have leadership roles within the Aboriginal department, but not outside that department" [R5]. These findings reveal that not only is there underrepresentation, but there are barriers to the pursuit of upper management positions in departments that do not match one's visible appearance or heritage background.

### 4.6 Suggestions for increasing representation

Respondents and interviewees presented a variety of ideas when we asked for suggestions about how to increase representation in administrative positions. They suggested valuing diversity, being equipped to support diverse leaders, mentorship and leadership programs, and restorative justice. The first step in increasing representation in educational leadership is to "recognize the problem and start recruiting" [Jay]. One of the challenges to increasing diversity is that people are less likely to aspire to a role if they do not see anyone like them in the position (Campbell-Stevens, 2009; Lee, 2019). While respondents did not like the idea of affirmative

action, they acknowledged that the district needs to be intentional in hiring for diversity in order to attract more diverse applicants.

4.6.1 Value diversity. Respondents felt that "Upper management must value diversity"

[R5] and several suggested that increasing diversity in senior management positions would be a good first step. They said the district "must be intentional in seeking leaders with various backgrounds" [R5] and that "there needs to be a more active role in hiring for equal ethnic representation" [R6]. Exactly how the district might change their recruitment and hiring practices to be more intentional was unclear. However, Naomi suggested the district show their commitment to diversity by "[hiring] an openly LGBTQ in [a] senior management position (Superintendent or Assistant [Superintendent])" and inspire potential leaders with initiatives like "the RCMP 'It Gets Better' videos" highlighting the success stories of current leaders.

Naomi stressed the importance of visible representation, especially within the senior management and Board of Trustees:

It has to get to that level for things to change because it's not just children seeing their teachers, it's not just teachers seeing their school based administrators, it's their school based administrators seeing who the decision makers are and it's the trustees because I'm an agent to the board.

Aspiring leaders need to see themselves represented in positions of leadership. She went on to explain the impact of representation at the Board level: "As teachers live and work in an environment where they are protected/accepted by 'living policies' and district initiatives, I believe that more will pursue formal leadership positions." Representation starts with leaders and decision-makers who reflect the diversity of the population they are serving and act with the knowledge and understanding of their unique needs and experiences. The theory of

representative bureaucracy suggests that representation in leadership results in more just and equitable policies in schools, and improved outcomes for the students and communities they serve (Atkins, Fertig & Wilkins, 2014; Niesche, 2018). Ultimately, demonstrating a commitment to diversity signals to all that that they are welcome and accepted in the Evergreen School District.

**4.6.2 Be equipped to support diverse leaders.** The needs of leaders from underrepresented groups are diverse. Those in senior management positions, particularly those in positions involving hiring and overseeing school-based administrators, could learn from and be aware of the challenges experienced by leaders of all identities and backgrounds so that they can provide the best support possible.

The district needs to celebrate that they have "a growing population of female administrators" and look for ways to support them "especially when it comes to pregnancy" [Sue]. Women leaders, who expect to be valued for their skill, often feel they need to work harder than their male counterparts to prove themselves. In addition, moms may be impacted by perceptions that maternity leaves and the time they take to care for their children negatively impacts their skill development, career advancement, or even their ability to do their job [Deena, Sue, R1, R10]. The district "being equipped, being aware, having the foresight to understand how people feel, and [addressing] that double standard" [Jay], would go a long way in supporting and encouraging leaders.

**4.6.3 Mentorship and leadership development programs.** Almost all of our respondents said that informal mentorship was something that prepared them for leadership, and they pursued leadership because of the encouragement they received from their mentors. District

leadership and mentorship programs provide spaces where any aspiring leader can connect with role models and be encouraged to envision themselves in the role.

Interviewees pointed out that there were limited opportunities for them to connect with other leaders who share their identity. Deena thought the district should "provide more support for women" and suggested "a formal women in leadership support group with mentors, presentations, workshops." Sue stated that it is difficult to identify and connect with other Indigenous leaders: "I know there's a few other Indigenous principals, vice-principals which is great to see, but unless I go around and introduce myself and get to know them, there's no network for us."

However, Jay pointed out that forming mentorship groups specifically for underrepresented racialized and ethnic groups would be problematic: "I think for the district [to start different groups], I don't think they would succeed that well." Such groups, he said, need to be formed from within. This would avoid the perception that the underrepresented group is being singled out and further segregated from the dominant group. It would be more acceptable for aspiring leaders who share the same identity to create their own social groups and networks. For example, if he felt Indo-Canadian leaders needed a mentorship group, he said, "it would be [up to] myself to bring that group together." Mentorship groups formed by the district to target underrepresented groups only serve to remind potential participants that they are not equally represented and reinforce the idea that they are the 'other' (Jack & Lobovsky, 2016). Sue acknowledged that networks are especially important because the Evergreen School District is so big. All of these responses indicate that the more opportunities there are for potential leaders from underrepresented groups to connect with and learn from mentors and role models, the greater the chances are they will pursue and attain formal leadership roles.

4.6.4 Restorative justice. Stakeholders at all levels need to come together and do the work to "make it feel safe and more welcoming and inclusive" [R9] for people from underrepresented groups to participate in educational leadership. As Naomi explained, "Restorative justice is not just about the person because everything ripples through the community. The more people in the community you can bring to restoring a problem, the more supported that person feels and, ultimately, the more healthier communities can be." The practice of restorative justice suggests that the way to bring about equity is to invite the voices of underrepresented groups into the conversation and seek to value and understand what they have to say. The Evergreen School District has already taken steps toward a healthier community by enacting policy and practices that support Indigenous peoples and the LGTBQIA2+ community. This was made possible because individuals from many different groups were willing to work together, to learn from one another, without "shame and blame" [Naomi]. Though "it takes a lot of time ... and patience," [Naomi] restorative justice practice is critical to continuing the work of seeking equity for all marginalized groups.

### 4.7 Advice to aspiring leaders

We asked interviewees, after reflecting on their experiences, what words of wisdom and encouragement they would give to aspiring leaders from underrepresented groups. Here is what they said:

Be authentic. All of our interviewees were aware of not only the challenges they faced because of their identity but also the opportunities their identity gave them to make a difference in the lives of students. It is their willingness to be vulnerable and share who they are that enabled them to connect with students as role models. It is important to "be comfortable with who you are" [Naomi] so that students who share your identity might be encouraged by your

example. For those considering a formal leadership role, it is essential to ask oneself, "if not you, who?" [Naomi]. Being authentic is being open about your guiding principles and self.

Evergreen School District "is moving forward in a purposeful way" by enacting policies and initiatives that are more inclusive; and, "the swell of inclusion is building" [Naomi]. It may not be easy, but "it gets better" [Naomi]. Aspiring leaders from an underrepresented group may have to work harder to get noticed. Jay acknowledged that double-standards make it particularly challenging for women and it's unfair but "you prove yourself, you get hired, and then you move on." One of the things that motivated respondents to overcome obstacles on their pathways to formal leadership was a clear sense of purpose. When things got tough, they remembered the difference they were making in the lives of students. For example, Sue draws her strength from her ability to relate to Indigenous students: "I'm doing this because I'm making a difference for Indigenous kids. And that's where my strength was, and so I worked towards connecting with the community ... and that was where I drew my strength."

Pursue new skills and experiences. Challenge yourself, seek out new experiences that build your skills. Be reflective and strategic. Ask yourself "Okay, what steps have I missed? What experience do I need? How do I put myself in those situations?" [Sue]. Have a growth mindset with the goal of "[creating] a briefcase of tools that are far superior than your next person" [Jay] so that your identity cannot be a factor.

Build relationships. Having a network of supportive friends who could also make introductions and open doors helped interviewees attain their leadership positions. It is important to "surround yourself with people who are supportive and encouraging" [Naomi]. You need to "find a mentor" who knows the process and how to get to where you want to go. Whether it's a

formal or informal mentoring relationship, you need to "find somebody who's gonna help you out" [Naomi].

## 4.8 Summary of key findings across the research questions

Respondents noted school-based administrators, mentors and role models who positively influenced their careers. The messaging they received from specific individuals was powerful. They were not only encouraged regarding their ability to be an effective leader, but also mentored as to how to successfully navigate the leadership pipeline. For many, these direct, consistent messages served to counter internalized negative perceptions about the district's openness to diversity or their worthiness as individuals. While respondents did not name specific barriers to their movement into formal leadership, they did recognize challenges. These included discrimination, stereotypes and misrepresentation (placements made on the basis of cultural traits and stereotypes). Furthermore, the senior leadership of the district is not yet reflective of the existing diversity among principals and vice-principals, teachers or students. Finally, the interviewees recognized the district's interest to increase diversity among formal leaders. Respondents were hopeful about the Evergreen School District's willingness to seek greater diversity among its formal leaders and offered several suggestions, including diversity training and supporting informal mentoring networks for aspiring leaders from underrepresented groups. Above all, the respondents possessed a strong sense of self and resolve which was most evident in their advice to new and aspiring leaders. The interviewees identified several personal traits central to the success of an applicant and effective educational leader – authenticity, resilience, a growth mindset, and relationship building.

#### **Chapter 5: Discussion**

#### 5.1 Introduction

As researchers, we came together as women with shared experiences who aspire to be educational leaders. With an inquiry mindset, our search began with two main wonderings: Were there others from underrepresented groups who experienced similar struggles? What were their stories? Were there collective stories to be told?

Through this study, we sought to better understand the leadership pathways for aspiring leaders from underrepresented groups. We also desired to gain insight into our own professional lives and experiences and challenge the beliefs we had internalized about identity and leadership. The deeply personal nature of this research brought attention to our own social justice lens. At the beginning of the research we reflected on and declared (in Chapter 1) our views on diversity and equitable representation in leadership. Uncertainty surfaced about collecting research data as we wondered if anyone would be willing to tell their stories and what their stories would reveal. Nonetheless, supportive and reassuring conversations with our colleagues provided us with the courage to move forward. We realized that we had an opportunity to provide a platform for underrepresented voices to be heard and that became the driving force for our research.

### 5.2 Implications and Recommendations

In the process of conducting this study, we found principals and vice-principals who believe in the importance of increasing representation. While respondents faced obstacles in their pathways to leadership, they remained passionate about their roles as formal leaders and role models for students, communities and colleagues.

In the interviews, respondents described how discrimination and marginalization were evident throughout their lives and difficult to attribute to a single event or setting. Interviewees

observed that over the course of their lives and careers overt acts of racism have been replaced with more subtle forms of discriminatory behaviours and attitudes. The administrators in our study indicated that increasing representation, as well as highlighting the experiences and stories of underrepresented formal leaders, helps to 'demystify' the leadership pipeline, breaks down perceived, internalized barriers and empowers others to aspire to leadership positions.

The stories shared by our respondents highlighted the importance of relationships and positive messaging. Respondents who received affirmation of their skills and abilities as teachers, and later, as leaders, felt accepted and supported by the district. Direct and ongoing positive messaging from school-based and district leaders helps counter internalized perceptions and barriers and encourages members of invisible and visible underrepresented groups to pursue formal leadership positions. Formal leaders from underrepresented groups can use their lived experiences to inform others. The respondents were effective teachers who understood their students and the challenges they faced; and, they became administrators who continued to advocate for vulnerable students and communities. Their ability to empathize with at-risk youth positioned the respondents as allies for marginalized students, their families and communities. Their presence, in and of itself, relays a positive message to their communities and other aspiring, underrepresented colleagues. Traditionally, members of underrepresented groups have been absent from decision-making processes. Therefore, having underrepresented groups in formal leadership positions increases opportunities for the realities, including barriers such as marginalization, to be shared with senior management. Moreover, greater representation supports efficacy in creating a system that is more culturally responsive.

A first step is supporting underrepresented leaders to be confident in who they are by creating safe, inclusive spaces, devoid of judgement. Both male and female respondents

acknowledged that gender and racial stereotypes as well as double standards exist for those in leadership positions. Breaking down these stereotypes and double standards will require the work of the district, those who hold upper management positions, all administrators and educators. With all stakeholders working together, the message will be clear. It is our understanding that the district aims to be fully inclusive of all underrepresented groups. Actions could be put into effect for all underrepresented groups to feel included, particularly for women who are parents aspiring to be in administrative roles. As mentioned in our findings, this could mean child care is offered during after school meetings at the board office. If this support comes from an authentic place and is meant for everyone, it could send a clear message to all parents that they are welcome and supported to aspire and hold administrative positions. Unfortunately, this was not the messaging we found in our research. Our interviewee, Jay, pointed out, it may take time to shift the stereotypical beliefs that moms do not have the capacity to be administrators. Women continue to express the need to work harder than their male counterparts to prove themselves, even after they have been appointed to a leadership position. Thus, it is imperative that the call for action to change the norms of everyday conversation is not just dependent on time passing, but that there is clear messaging from the district on where they stand on such issues. In our interviewee with Reena, she indicated she had made many sacrifices and continues to do so in order to maintain the image of being able to do it all while being a mom and an administrator. We did not hear this from male administrators. It is clear that equity cannot be achieved until we address why male administrators have been encouraged to be family oriented while simultaneously being able to maintain an image of a capable administrator.

Ultimately, the barriers of stereotypes and double standards continue to impact those who have been appointed to administrative positions and affect how they view themselves in their

role. Administrators as a collective group also need to feel comfortable in calling out those who continue to stereotype and perpetuate double standards in their practice. It is important that private conversations do not drive the norms, but rather the norms are challenged, co-created in a public forum, and reinforced. We are thankful that our respondents and interviewees persisted. The key to navigating and persevering through these barriers, both in the past and in the present, was through preparedness and passion for their work.

The leaders we heard from wanted to know that their leadership pathway is being defined by their skills and qualifications rather than their identity. Some respondents perceived district hiring and placement decisions to be based on assumptions about their identity, specifically their cultural traits and ability to connect with underrepresented populations. Identity plays a role in shaping people's perceptions of the world and impacts how aspiring leaders from underrepresented groups perceive the policies and decisions of the school district. For some, a difficult decision or placement left them questioning the ways their identity may have impacted their leadership pathway, but it did not undermine their sense of belonging or qualifications. Others separated their identity from the process and framed it to understand the district's decisions as a part of a complex decision-making process. Countering misperceptions about identity and hiring requires in-depth dialogue. Getting to know applicants, debriefing after interviews, and leaving the door open for conversations with senior management helps affirm leaders and provides them with the information needed to be more successful next time. These practices can help respondents recognize that the district's decisions are not always a response to their identity.

The results of this study show that increasing representation is a complex process and a challenge for the school district. Our last research question asked participants to provide advice

to the district on how to achieve greater representation within leadership positions. As the responses varied for this last question, there are no easy strategies or solutions. We realized the question itself is a difficult one to answer because to increase greater representation is a complex process and there is no definitive answer. Perhaps, the question could have been "What steps has the district taken to achieve greater representation in the district?" We could have also asked, "What observations have you made about the ways in which organizations and communities work to increase representation?" and "How can the community support the district's movement towards increased diversity and representation?

Social justice education places an emphasis on the end results and goals. If the goal of research in diversity in education is to create a system that further reflects the society it serves, it must be the intention of all stakeholders to cultivate a space in which all individuals feel valued. Achieving this goal will demand that more voices are heard. It will require previously marginalized voices to seek out and find the space to be heard while, at the same time, drawing upon and utilizing the privilege of others to amplify those voices so that they are heard. This can only be achieved collectively, and allyship will be essential. Most importantly, achieving greater representation among educational leaders is part of a larger community shift toward equity and inclusion. This was most evident in our conversation with Naomi when she posed a question: "how do you elect diverse people?" Her question pointed to the fact that despite the diversity within the community, constituents tend to elect to the Board of Trustees fewer people from underrepresented groups. The result is that these decision-makers do not fully reflect the diverse identities of those they serve. Increasing the visibility of leaders from visible and invisible underrepresented groups would send a message to voters that those voices are valued and belong

in positions of influence. Bringing awareness about the need for representation and diversity at all levels within the school district also extends to voters.

In the Evergreen School District and other school districts, it is the trustees who hire formal leaders. Therefore, educating educational stakeholders and community members on the importance and benefits of representation is one way to shift attitudes and understanding around diversity. Diversity training for the current Board and district staff could bring awareness to the systemic barriers faced by those who identify with underrepresented groups and such training could lead to systemic changes that impact students, staff and the greater community. The effects of representation in leadership include more just and equitable policies in schools and improved outcomes for the students and communities they serve (Atkins, Fertig & Wilkins, 2014; Niesche, 2018). Finally, being intentional in seeking out qualified candidates from underrepresented groups when hiring for senior management positions would signal to everyone that the district is serious about increasing diversity.

The increased presence of visible and invisible underrepresented formal leaders serves as a message to the whole community that encourages a move beyond the surface to larger systemic and institutional change. It upholds and supports the pursuit of inclusion. Effective change will not happen until more people are in leadership positions where they are able to speak freely about the barriers and marginalization they face. Furthermore, in opening spaces for more stories to be heard, we are also opening spaces for underrepresented students and their families.

#### **5.3 Future Research**

It became evident that more research is needed about diversity in leadership in BC school districts. There remains a gap in the diversity of visible and invisible groups represented in the research. Our study made evident a number of challenges in researching leadership for diversity

and leadership with diversity. Therefore, we have identified several factors that could be considered when conducting future research focused on underrepresented groups.

We had a low response rate which is aligned with previous studies done in this area. The biggest challenge to conducting research about diversity in leadership is to facilitate safe, open spaces for the stories of individual leaders to be heard. As researchers, we found that identity is a highly personal dimension of leadership that requires a safe space for individuals to self-identify and disclose their experiences. The issues that affect educational leaders who come from underrepresented groups are rooted in systemic and historical structures. Disclosure in and of itself challenges these norms. Although researchers can make efforts to assure anonymity, any disclosures still have the potential to risk disclosing the identity of the participant. Moving forward, researchers will need to keep in mind the high stakes of disclosure. It will require the ability to balance efforts to provide anonymity, while, at the same time, honouring the stories of participants. The unique identities and experiences of respondents will make them easy to identify, especially in smaller districts and communities. Given the personal nature of identity and, potentially, the emotion of a lifetime of marginalization and discrimination, researchers will need to personalize their invitations and interactions with potential respondents. Most importantly, the experiences of underrepresented groups need to be heard and shared with the understanding that a shift in policy and practices can only be effective when it is informed and takes into consideration as many perspectives and experiences as possible.

Another recommendation for future research includes looking at the complexities of intersectionality between race, women and parenthood, gender stereotypes and double standards. Future studies could involve further investigation of the barriers women and mothers face and ways they can feel supported in the pursuit of leadership. We would recommend more qualitative

studies conducted about Asian and Indigenous leaders as we found few studies on Canadian people of colour in educational leadership. Additional research into hiring practices, messaging, and definitions of leadership with relation to race could be conducted in addition to research on mentorship models with a greater focus on diversity and inclusion.

### **5.4 Conclusion**

This project allowed us to experience the ways in which research affords an opportunity to open and hold spaces for underrepresented voices. Our ten respondents represent a variety of identities and lived experiences, but there are many others. It is essential to seek out and share those stories. We recognize that these are stories of individuals and that their worldviews and experiences may not be indicative of all people. However, it is our hope that in sharing these stories, those who make connections with these stories may feel a sense of affirmation in that they are not alone and provide greater perspectives to those who have not lived similar experiences.

Our research has made a positive difference to how we identify with others and see ourselves, and hopefully has also made a positive difference to our respondents and interviewees. It is our identity that often informs our work as educators. Moreover, being authentic about our identity further cultivates a space in which others feel safe and accepted. We sensed that respondents to our questionnaire felt a sense of affirmation that someone noticed and was asking questions they have been wanting to discuss for a long time, as well as a sense of relief that they are not alone in their experiences

This capstone project provided each researcher with a space to reflect not only upon their own identity, but also their own place within educational leadership. Like us, our participants wrestled with how their identity impacted their leadership journey. Two out of four interviewees

reflected with laughter and tears. Their tears indicated that our interviewees have faced difficult barriers in their leadership pathway. We draw inspiration from our participants' perseverance and persistence, and strength from the ways in which their identity drove them forward, shaped their purpose, and prepared them to make an impact in their school communities. We now look to our own leadership pathways with greater knowledge and understanding of what lies ahead, and awareness that, though there are barriers, they are not insurmountable. Choosing to move forward will require a commitment to persevere. This research has granted us the privilege of role models and allies to look to for encouragement and guidance. We are honoured to follow them in claiming space for ourselves and creating space for others to embrace diversity.

### References

- Atkins, D.N., Fertig, A.R., & Wilkins, V.M. (2014). Connectedness and expectations: How minority teachers can improve educational outcomes for minority students. *Public Management Review*, 16(4), 503–526. doi:10.1080/14719037.2013.841981
- Barakette, J. & Cleghorn, A. (2000). The school as an information system of socialization.

  Sociology of education: An introductory view from Canada. Toronto: Pearson Prentice

  Hall.
- Blackmore, J. (2010). 'The other within': Race/gender disruptions to the professional learning of white educational leaders. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 13(1), 45-61. doi:10.1080/13603120903242931
- Bogotch, I. (2015). What is social justice leadership? In D. Griffiths & J. Portelli (Ed.), *Key questions for educational leaders* (p. 131-136). Burlington, Ontario: Word & Deed Publishing & Edphil Books.
- Bonnycastle, C.R. (2011). Social justice along a continuum: A relational illustrative model. *Social Service Review*, 85(2), 267-295. doi:10.1086/660703
- Bowen, G. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative Research Journal 9*(2), 27-40. doi:10.3316/QRJ0902027
- British Columbia Ministry of Education (2019). *BC's new curriculum: Positive personal and cultural identity*. Retrieved from https://curriculum.gov.bc.ca/competencies/personal-and-social/positive-personal-and-cultural-identity
- Brookfield, S. (2014). Teaching our own racism: Incorporating personal narratives of whiteness into anti-racist practice. *Adult Learning*, *25*(3), 89-95. doi:10.1177/1045159514534189

- Bryman, A. & Bell, E. (2016). Chapter 3: Research Ethics. In *Social Research Methods* (pp. 48–64). Oxford University Press.
- Burnard, P. (1991) A method of analysing interview transcripts in qualitative research. *Nurse Education Today 11*(6), 461-466. doi:10.1016/0260-6917(91)90009-Y
- Campbell-Stephens, R. (2009). Investing in diversity: Changing the face (and the heart) of educational leadership. *School Leadership and Management*, 29(3), 321–331. doi:10.1080/13632430902793726
- Centre for Evaluation and Research (2019). *Tips and Tools #18: Coding Qualitative Data*.

  Retrieved from: https://www.ocic.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Coding-Center-for-Evaluation-and-Research.pdf
- Chan, A.K., Ngai, G.S. & Choi, P. (2016). Contextualising the career pathways of women principals in Hong Kong: A critical examination. *Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education*, 46(2), 194-213. doi:10.1080/03057925.2014.884919
- Coleman, M. (2012). Leadership and diversity. *Educational management administration & leadership 40*(5), 592-609. doi:10.1177/1741143212451174
- Coleman, M., & Campbell-Stephens, R. (2010). Perceptions of career progress: The experience of black and minority ethnic school leaders. *School Leadership & Management*, 30(1), 35-49. doi:10.1080/13632430903509741
- Creswell, J., Hanson, W., Clark, V., & Morales, A. (2007). Qualitative research designs: Selection and implementation. *The Counselling Psychologist, (35)*2, 236-264. doi:10.1177/0011000006287390

- Crockett, M.D. (2002). Inquiry as professional development: Creating dilemmas through teachers' work. *Teaching and Teacher Education 18*(5), 609-624. doi:10.1016/S0742-051X(02)00019-7
- Cruz-Gonzalez, C., Segovia, D & Lucena, R. (2019). School principals and leadership identity:

  A thematic exploration of the literature. *Educational Research 61*(3), 319-336.

  doi:10/1080/00131881.2019.1633941
- Davis, B.W., Gooden, M.A., & Bowers, A.J. (2017). Pathways to the principalship: An event history analysis of the careers of teachers with principal certification. *American Educational Research Journal*, *54*(2), 207-240. doi:10.3102/0002831216687530
- Dee, T.S. (2004). Teachers, race, and student achievement in a randomized experiment. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 86(1), 195–210. doi:10.1162/003465304323023750
- Dilley, P. (2000). Conducting successful interviews: Tips for intrepid research. *Theory Into Practice*, *39*(3), 131-137. doi:10.1207/s15430421tip3903\_3
- Egalite, A.J., Kisida, B., & Winters, M.A. (2015). Representation in the classroom: The effect of own-race teachers on student achievement. *Economics of Education Review*, 45, 44–52. doi:10.1016/j.econedurev.2015.01.007
- Fitzgerald, T. (2006) Walking between two worlds: Indigenous women and educational leadership. *Educational management administration and leadership 34*(2), 201-213. doi:10.1177/1741143206062494
- Fowler, F. F. (2012). Methods of Data Collection. In *Survey Research Methods* (4th ed., pp. 68–85). doi:10.4135/9781452230184

- Fuller, E., Hollingworth, L., & An, B.P. (2019). Exploring intersectionality and the employment of school leaders. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *57*(2), 134-151. doi:10.1108/JEA-07-2018-0133
- Fuller, E., Reynolds, A. and O'Doherty, A. (2016). Recruitment, selection, and placement of educational leadership students. In Crow, G. and Young, M. (Eds), *Handbook of Research on the Education of School Leaders* (p. 77-117). New York: Routledge.
- Gale, T. (2000). Rethinking social justice in schools: How will we recognize it when we see it?

  International journal of inclusive education 4(3), p. 253-269.

  doi:10.1080/136031100550059178
- Gibbs, G. R. (2007). *Qualitative research kit: Analyzing qualitative data*. London, England: SAGE Publications, Ltd. doi:10.4135/9781849208574
- Hill, C., Miller, K., Benson, K., and Handley, G. (2016). *Barriers and Bias: The Status of Women in Leadership* [White paper]. Retrieved November 23, 2019, from American Association of University Women: https://www.aauw.org/research/barriers-and-bias/
- Ibrahim, A. (2015). Why should school leaders take equity seriously in their work? In D.

  Griffiths & J. Portelli (Ed.), *Key questions for educational leaders* (p. 49-54). Burlington,

  Ontario: Word & Deed Publishing & Edphil Books.
- Jack, D., & Lobovsky, R. (2016). Mentoring aspiring racialized leaders. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 5(3), 170-186. doi:10.1108/IJMCE-03-2016-0022
- Koenig, A.M., Eagly, A.H., Mitchell, A.A., & Ristikari, T. (2011). Are leader stereotypes masculine? A meta-analysis of three research paradigms. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*(4), 616-642. doi:10.1037/a0023557

- Lee, C. (2019). Courageous Leaders: Promoting and supporting diversity in school leadership development. *Management in Education*, OnlineFirst, 1-11. Sage Publishing: London. doi:10.1177/0892020619878828
- Lopez, A. (2017). Rocky boats and rainbows: Culturally responsive leadership from the margin an autoethnography. In Smail, A., Pitre, A., Aragon, A., & EBSCOhost (Ed.),

  \*Perspectives on diversity, equity, and social justice in educational leadership (p. 23 41).

  \*Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Lopez, G. (2003). The (racially neutral) politics of education: A critical race theory perspective. *Education administration quarterly 39*(1), 68-94. doi:10.1177/0013161X02239761
- Meier, K.J., Wrinkle, R.D. and Polinard, J.L. (1999). Representative bureaucracy and distributional equity: Addressing the hard question. *The Journal of Politics*, 61(4), 1025-1039. doi:10.2307/2647552
- Myung, J., Loeb, S. and Horng, E. (2011). Tapping the principal pipeline: Identifying talent for future school leadership in the absence of formal succession management programs.
  Educational Administration Quarterly, 47(5), 695-727. doi:10.1177/0013161X11406112
- Niesche, R. (2016). Perpetuating inequality in education: Valuing purpose over process in educational leadership. In *The* Dark Side of Leadership: Identifying and Overcoming Unethical Practice in Organizations 26, 235-252. doi:10.1108/S1479-366020160000026013
- Niesche, R. (2018). Critical perspectives in educational leadership: a new 'theory turn'? *Journal of Educational Administration and History*, 50(3), 145–158.

  doi:10.1080/00220620.2017.1395600

- Ogunbawo, D. (2012). Developing black and minority ethnic leaders: The case for customized programmes. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership*, 40(2), 158–174. doi:10.1177/1741143211427983
- Oluo, I. (2018). So you want to talk about race? New York: Seal Press.
- Osborne, K. (2008) Education and schooling: A relationship that can never be taken for granted.

  In D. Coulter and J. Wiens (Eds.), *Why do we educate: Renewing the conversation*, 21-41. Malden, MA: National Society for the Study of Education.
- Pajak, E. & Green, A. (2003). Loosely coupled organizations, misrecognition, and social reproduction. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 6(4), 393-413. doi:10.1080/1360312032000150760
- Picower, B. (2013). You can't change what you don't see: Developing new teachers' political understanding of education. *Journal of Transformative Education*, 11(3), 170-189. doi:10.1177/1541344613502395
- Pitts, D.W. (2005). Diversity, representation, and performance: Evidence about race and ethnicity in public organizations. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory*, 15(4), 615–631. doi:10.1093/jopart/mui033
- Pollard, D.S. (1997). Race, gender, and educational leadership: Perspectives from African American principals. *Educational Policy*, 11(3), 353-374. doi:10.1177/0895904897011003005
- Quilantán, M. C., & Menchaca-Ochoa, V. (2004). The superintendency becomes a reality for Hispanic women. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 40(3), 124–127. doi:10.1080/00228958.2004.10516421

- Reed, L.C. (2012). The intersection of race and gender in school leadership for three black female principals. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 25(1), 39-58. doi:10.1080/09518398.2011.647723
- Robinson K., Shakeshaft, C., Grogan, M. and Newcomb, W.S. (2017). Necessary but not sufficient: The continuing inequality between men and women in educational leadership, findings from the American Association of School Administrators mid-decade survey.

  Frontiers in Education, 2(12). doi:10.3389/feduc.2017.00012
- Ryan, J. (2006). Inclusive leadership and social justice in schools. *Leadership and policy in schools*, 5(1), 3-17. doi:10.1080/15700760500483995
- Ryan, J. (2015). What is inclusive leadership? In D. Griffiths & J. Portelli (Ed.), *Key questions* for educational leaders (p. 111-116). Burlington, Ontario: Word & Deed Publishing & Edphil Books.
- Ryan, J. & Rottendam, C (2009). Struggling for democracy: Administrative communication in a diverse school context. *Educational Management Administration and Leadership 37*(4), 473-496. doi:10.1177/1741143209334579
- Ryan, J., Pollock, K., & Antonelli, F. (2009). Teacher diversity in Canada: Leaky pipelines, bottlenecks, and glass ceilings. *Canadian Journal of Education*, 32(3), 591–617.

  Retrieved from https://www-jstor-org.ezproxy.library.ubc.ca/stable/canajeducrevucan.32.3.591
- Sensoy, O., & DiAngelo, R. (2017). We are all or diversity, but...: How faculty hiring committees reproduce whiteness and practical suggestions for how they can change. Harvard Educational Review, 87(4), 557-580. doi:10.17763/1943-5045-87.4.557

- Shields, C. (2010). Transformative leadership: Working for equity in diverse contexts. *Educational administration quarterly 46*(4), 558-589. doi:10.1177/0013161X0375609
- Solomon, R.P. (1997). Race, role modelling, and representation in teacher education and teaching. *Canadian Journal of Education / Revue Canadienne de* l'éducation, 22(4), 395–410. doi:10.2307/1585791
- Stevenson, H. (2006). Moving towards, into and through principalship: Developing a framework for researching the career trajectories of school leaders. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 44(4), 408–420. doi:10.1108/09578230610676604
- Thomas, A. (2007). Self-report data in cross-cultural research: Issues of construct validity in questionnaires for quantitative research in educational leadership. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 10(2), 211–226. doi:10.1080/13603120601097488
- Thorpe, A. (2018). Educational leadership development and women: Insights from critical realism. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, 22(2), 135-147, doi:10.1080/13603124.2018.1450995
- Trinidad, C., & Normore, A.H. (2005). Leadership and gender: A dangerous liaison? *Leadership* and Organization Development Journal, 26(7), 574–590. doi:10.1108/01437730510624601
- Williams, J. (2017). Introduction. In Smail, A., Pitre, A., Aragon, A., & EBSCOhost (Eds.),
  Perspectives On Diversity, Equity, And Social Justice In Educational Leadership (p. ix-xiv). Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield.
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal of Education 48*(2), 311-325. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26357806

# **Appendix A: Questionnaire**

# Educational Leadership and Inclusion:

## Opening Doors for Diversity

The purpose of this study is to examine the perspectives of vice-principals and principals who self-identify as members of visible or invisible underrepresented groups regarding opportunities and challenges faced when moving into their current leadership role. Highlighting and examining the experiences and successes of district administrators may lead to changes in policies and practices that encourage and empower others who identify as underrepresented to move into leadership positions, specifically school-based administrative positions. An investigation of this nature offers an opportunity to educate and empower others with similar aspirations.

For this questionnaire, there are fifteen questions. Please select one answer for each of the multiple-choice questions. Please type in your answers for the open-ended questions. You have the right to not answer any of the questions or withdraw from the questionnaire at any time. After you are finished, please click SUBMIT.

## **Questionnaire Questions**

- 1. What is your current role?
  - a. Principal
  - b. Vice-Principal
  - c. Other
- 2. Are you an administrator in:
  - a. Elementary

b.	Secondary

- c. Other, please specify
- 3. Do you identify as
  - a. Female
  - b. Male
  - c. Other
  - d. Prefer not to say
- 4. Do you identify with:
  - a. A visible underrepresented group
  - b. An invisible underrepresented group
  - c. Both a and b
  - d. None of the above
- 5. With which underrepresented group(s) do you identify? (Check all that apply)
  - a. Underrepresented racialized/ethnic group
  - b. Gender Identity
  - c. LGBTQIA2+
  - d. Indigenous Peoples
  - e. Religious
  - f. Immigrant
  - g. Refugee
  - h. Persons with disabilities
  - i. Other, please specify
- 6. How long have you been in an administrative leadership role?

	a.	1-2 years	
	b.	3-4 years	
	c.	5 or more years	
7.	. How many years did you spend teaching before moving into an administrative leadership		
	role?		
	a.	Less than 5 years	
	b.	5 to 10 years	
	c.	More than 10 years	
8.	What 6	hat experiences prepared you for leadership? (Check all that apply)	
	a.	Prior role(s)	
	b.	Professional development	
	c.	Workshops	
	d.	Mentors	
	e.	Other, please specify	
9.	9. What impact do you believe your identity has had on your career development?		
	a.	Positive	
	b.	Negative	
	c.	Both positive and negative	
	d.	Neither positive or negative	

10. Do you believe there is equitable representation of underrepresented groups in formal educational leadership roles in the district?

a. Yes

Please explain your response.

- b. No
- c. Unsure

Please elaborate on your response.

- 11. In your opinion, how important is it to see representation from underrepresented groups in leadership positions?
  - a. Not important
  - b. Somewhat important
  - c. Important
  - d. Very important
  - e. No opinion

Please explain your response.

- 12. Have you taken steps to develop leadership capacity in others from underrepresented groups?
  - a. Yes
  - b. No

Please elaborate on your response.

- 13. What do you think the district could do to increase the level of representation in formal leadership positions in the school district?
- 14. Is there anything else you would like to say about your experience or the representation of underrepresented groups in leadership positions in education?
- 15. Would you be willing to participate in a follow-up interview? [Providing your name and contact information expresses an interest in being interviewed. We will contact you with

more information about the interview and you will have the opportunity to give or not to give final consent.]

a. Yes, please contact me.

Please provide your name and contact information.

b. No, thank you.

☐ I understand that my participation in this study is completely voluntary and that by submitting the questionnaire I give consent for the researchers to view my responses.\*

\*Required

## **Appendix B: Interview Questions**

An interview protocol will be followed; however, the interview questions are primarily intended to prompt participants to elaborate upon the responses given in the questionnaire. The order of questions may vary and additional questions may be asked to probe responses.

- 1. In your questionnaire you wrote, \_\_\_\_\_. Could you give an example or elaborate more on that?
- 2. I noticed there was a common theme of \_\_\_\_\_ from many of the questionnaire responses. In your opinion, why do you think this is?
- 3. Many people responded to question #\_\_\_ with a similar response of \_\_\_\_\_, why do you think that is?
- 4. Describe your pathway to formal leadership in the district.
- 5. Have mentors played a role in your career advancement? If yes, please describe the impact they have had.
- 6. With regards to overcoming challenges, what advice would you give to teachers aspiring to be vice-principals or principals?